PARENTAL CHOICE TO HOME EDUCATE CHILDREN WHO ARE GIFTED IN AUSTRALIA

Dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the

degree of

Master of Research (Educational Studies)

Amy M. Thomas

Department of Educational Studies

Faculty of Human Sciences

Macquarie University, Sydney Australia

1st December 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of contents	ii-iv
List of tables	v
Abstract	vi
Statement of originality	vii
Acknowledgements	viii

INTRODUCTION

1.1	Home education in Australia	1
1.2	Research on home education and schooling experiences of children who are gifted	3
1.3	Educational needs of children who are gifted	4
1.4	Education of children who are gifted in Australia	4
1.5	Context of this study	6
1.6	Statement of the problem	7

LITERATURE REVIEW

8

2.1	Literature review process	8
2.2	Factors associated with the decision to home educate	9
2.2.1	Religious and philosophical reasons	10
2.2.2	Flexible education options and the availability of educational choice	11
2.2.3	Dissatisfaction with schooling	12
2.2.4	Learner differences	13
2.2.5	Children who are gifted and home educated	14
2.3	Use of gifted provisions in schools	15
2.4	Experiences in school and underachievement of children who are gifted	17
2.5	The importance of school engagement	19

2.6	Behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement	21
2.7	Engagement of children who are gifted	22
2.8	Chapter summary	24
2.9	Study purpose and aim	25

METHODOLOGY

3.1	Research design	26
3.2	Participants	27
3.3	Measures	28
3.3.1	Demographic information	28
3.3.2	School and home education information	28
3.3.3	Child giftedness and exceptionalities	29
3.3.4	Factors associated with parent decision to home educate	29
3.3.5	Parents' perceptions of child engagement in school and home education environments	30
3.3.5.1	Child access to gifted education provisions in school and home education	30
3.3.6	Parent perception of child engagement in school and home education environment	32
3.4	Procedure	34
3.5	Data analysis	35

RESULTS

<u>37</u>

<u>26</u>

4.1	Demographic and background information	37
4.1.1	Parent and child demographic information	37
4.1.2	Child giftedness and exceptionalities	39
4.1.3	Child learning needs	39
4.1.4	School background	41
4.1.5	Parents relationship with regulatory bodies	41
4.2	Factors contributing to parents' decision to home educate	41
4.3	Parents perceptions of gifted educational provisions in schools and how these compare to home education	44
4.3.1	Parents perception of access to gifted education provisions in school and home education	45

4.3.2	Parents perception of accommodation of child's learning needs at school	46
4.3.3	Parents perceptions of child needs being met through home education	48
4.4	Parent perceptions of child engagement in school and home education environments	51
4.4.1	Parent responses indicative of engagement	52
4.5	Chapter summary	54

DISCUSSION

<u>56</u>

<u>67</u>

<u>92</u>

5.1	Factors influencing parent choice to home educate: An issue of gifted needs	57
5.2	Parent perception of lack of provision in schools	58
5.3	Parent perceptions of child engagement in school	60
5.4	Meeting child needs in home education	61
5.5	Limitations	62
5.6	Implications and directions for future research	63
5.7	Conclusion	65

REFERENCE LIST

APPENDIX

Appendix AParents of gifted and high ability children who homeschool survey84Appendix BChild access to gifted education practices in school and home education116Appendix CParent perceptions of child engagement in school117Appendix DParent perceptions of child engagement in home education119Appendix EEthics approval letter121

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Parent demographic information	38
Table 2	Parent perceptions of child learning needs	40
Table 3	General factors for home education choice	42
Table 4	Frequency of child access to gifted provisions at school and home	46
Table 5	Parent perceptions of child needs met through home education	50

Abstract

Families who home educate their gifted children have received scant research attention. Participants (N = 42) were Australian parents of children identified as gifted or high ability who had experienced both school and home education environments. An online survey assessed factors contributing to the decision to home educate and measured parent perceptions of their child's engagement and access to gifted education practices in school and in home education. The most common factor in the decision to home educate was parents' dissatisfaction with school, which included their child's affective responses, school or teacher failure to meet gifted learning needs, and absence of challenge. Paired-samples t-tests indicated significantly greater parent-perceived emotional engagement (p < .001) and cognitive engagement (p < .001) in home education compared to school. In home education settings parents reported children were supported, engaged and motivated, and curriculum was delivered at the required pace and challenge level. Parent perceptions were useful indicators of engagement and access to gifted practices, which suggests a need to address the cognitive and emotional needs of children who are gifted in school.

Statement of Originality

This work has not previously been submitted for a degree or diploma in any university. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the dissertation contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the dissertation itself. The data that forms the basis of this submission was obtained from a single study utilising a sample of home educating parents with children who were gifted in New South Wales and the Australian Capital Territory. This study was conducted with the approval of the Macquarie University Ethics Review Committee (Human Research), protocol number 5201700385.

(Signed)___

Date: 01/12/2017

Amy M. Thomas

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my Supervisors, Dr Anne McMaugh and Dr Kerry Hodge. You have supported me, shared my frustrations, helped me to understand, challenged my thinking and expected nothing less than my absolute best. Thank you for your patience, acceptance, and guidance along the way.

To my parents, Maree and Phil O'Sullivan for instilling a love of lifelong learning and supporting me in too many ways to mention. You are my rocks. And to my support team and friends – Rachael Crane, Kerrie Oei, Elizabeth Singer and Andrea Wild. Thank you for the philosophical conversations, your help, your encouragement and above all your support and friendship. To my husband Bradley Thomas, you have supported me throughout this journey and showed your unwavering belief that I will get this done. You have been a strong role model to our children and we have shown them what great teamwork is within our family. To my children Hayden, Mackenzie and Lachlan Thomas, you are my inspiration! You are my world and I will continue to move mountains *with* you. Thank you for your love, patience, understanding and encouragement along the way.

To the parents who participated in this study, without sharing your stories this dissertation would not be possible. Through your voices, I hope this research makes even a small difference to the lives of all children, but especially to children who are gifted and twice exceptional.

And to neurodiversity itself, you don't make the job easy, but you certainly make the journey worthwhile!

In loving memory of Jennifer Thew who showed nothing less than unconditional love and support for her beautiful children. You are sorely missed.

1976 – 2017

1 Introduction

Home education is an educational phenomenon that has seen growth in recent decades, with more families disengaging from the school system or choosing to never send their children to formal schooling (Lubienski, Puckett, & Brewer, 2013; Rothermel, 2002). The reasons why families choose to home educate is one of the most researched areas of home education (Spiegler, 2010), with reasons for this choice reportedly becoming more diverse (Butler, Harper, Call, & Bird, 2015; Jackson & Allan, 2010; Rothermel, 2002; Spiegler, 2010). Although there are several known factors associated with the decision to home educate, these factors have not been closely explored in Australian families. There is a lack of research on why specific groups, such as families with children who are gifted, choose home educate their child who is gifted and will explore, from the perspective of the home educating parent, the educational conditions and engagement of the child in school and home environments. This research aims to increase understanding of the home education phenomenon and provide insights about the home education of children considered gifted or high ability.

1.1 Home Education in Australia

Home education for the purpose of this study is defined as parents taking direct responsibility for the education of their children at home (Harding & Farrell, 2003; Home Education Australia, 2013). The terms home education and homeschooling are often used interchangeably. However, preference is given to the term home education (Select Committee on Home Schooling, 2014). There is poor understanding of the prevalence of home education as not all families register with their state of territory authorities (English, 2015a; Jackson & Allan, 2010). Lack of registration may be an international phenomenon (Arai, 2000; Lindsay, 2003; Webb (2011). Parents electing to home educate their children in Australia are required by law to register with their state or territory Education Department. From those families who are registered, most states and territories, with the exception of South Australia and the Northern Territory, publish school census reports that record the number of home schooling registrations. For example, the Board of Studies, Teaching and Educational Standards (BOSTES)-now known as New South Wales Education Standards Authority (NESA)- identified that the number of children registered for home education continued to grow, with 3703 students (plus another 184 students who were exempt from registration) registered for home education in NSW in the 2015-2016 period (BOSTES, 2016). Similarly, in 2016, the Australian Capital Territory (ACT) recorded 252 students registered for home education, equating to a 30% increase over two years (ACT Education Directorate, 2016). There have been discrepant estimates of home education across Australia. For example, using Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) data, English (2015a) reported that 184 000 school-aged children were not accounted for in school enrolments. However, it is not known whether these children were home educated or unaccounted for in school enrolments for other reasons. In contrast, Guterman and Neuman (2017) reported approximately 30 000 children were home educated in Australia, though no method of calculation was given. However, Home Education Australia (2013) is one of the peak advocacy bodies for parents who home educate; research with parents in their organisation estimated approximately 1-2% of the school-age population are home educated. These varying estimates suggest that there is currently no means to accurately calculate the number of children who are home educated in Australia.

Uncertainty about identification of the population of home educated children is exacerbated by a known concern about non-registration of home schooled children (Select Committee on Home Schooling, 2014). Non-registering parents present a difficulty for authorities as they are engaging in an illegal activity in NSW (BOSTES, 2013). This also creates research and ethical problems for researchers, as this hidden population is very difficult to access (English, 2015a), and hinders the potential to fully understand this phenomenon. Additionally, gifted children account for approximately 10% of the population of all school-aged children. (Gagné, 2004). The difficulty in locating this small number of home educators may partially explain why there is even less data on families with gifted children in home education research. In summary, little is known about the population of home educators in Australia, but reports suggest a small but significant number of families are engaged in the provisions of educating their children at home.

1.2 Research on home education and schooling experiences of children who are gifted

Research on home education is contained in a small body of empirical research (See Chapter 2). Several scholars, such as Isenberg (2007), Jolly, Matthews and Nester (2013), Kunzman and Gaither (2013) and Spiegler (2010), have agreed that the body of research is scant and more empirical research is needed. Although there is little data available about specific groups who home educate, it is known that families with students who are gifted are an identified subgroup (Bell, Kaplan, & Thurman, 2016; Jackson & Allan, 2010; Jolly et al., 2013; McFall, 2016).

There is some evidence to suggest that schooling experiences of children who are gifted may contribute to parents' decision to home educate. For example, Jolly et al.'s (2013) study of gifted home educators reported parents were dissatisfied with the school's ability to meet their child's needs. There is evidence that gifted provisions are effective in meeting the needs of children who are gifted in school (Rogers, 2007), and that the delivery of gifted practices influences child engagement (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016; Landis & Reschly, 2013). However, according to Gross, Urquhart, Doyle, Juratowitch, and Matheson (2011) and Jarvis and Henderson (2015), Australian schools do not consistently use the range of recommended provisions. These findings suggest that gifted practices and child engagement are important variables to explore in the literature in order to understand parents' decision to home educate their children who are gifted. However, there has been no Australian research to indicate whether

curriculum, educational provisions or child engagement contribute to this decision.

1.3 Educational Needs of Children Who Are Gifted

Research over several decades has revealed common characteristics of children who are gifted. Intellectually, these children have the ability to think quickly, remember and learn easily, and to understand complex and abstract concepts at considerably faster rates than their same age peers (Clark, 2013; Koshy & Robinson, 2006; Treffinger, Young, Selby, & Shepardson, 2002). They also prefer challenge and some autonomy in their learning (Eddles-Hirsch, Vialle, Rogers, & McCormick, 2010). There are also social and emotional characteristics associated with giftedness (Eddles-Hirsch et al., 2010), such as a preference for older or equally mature companions (Koshy & Robinson, 2006) and an early sense of ethics and justice (Clark, 2013). These characteristics can mean these children may be out of step in age-based classrooms geared towards the typical learning characteristics of children their age. For some gifted children there are additional asynchronies because of an accompanying disability or learning difficulty, which is often referred to as *twice exceptionality* (Reis, Baum, & Burke, 2014).

Parents' decision to home educate children who are gifted or high ability in light of what is known about gifted characteristics, engagement and the inconsistent use of gifted practices requires further investigation. There is very limited empirical data about these families, even though there are known concerns with engagement of children who are gifted and the delivery of gifted education in schools.

1.4 Education of Children who are Gifted in Australia

There are many theories and models of giftedness that continue to be debated (Kaufman & Sternberg, 2008), in part because the definition has changed and broadened over time (Castellano & Matthews, 2014; Kaufman & Sternberg, 2008). In Australia, giftedness is commonly defined through a developmental perspective using Gagné's Differentiated Model of

Giftedness and Talent [DMGT] (Gagné, 2008). This definition is adopted in the gifted and talented education policies of State and Territory public schools in Australia, including in NSW and the Australian Capital Territory (e.g., NSW Department of Education, 2004; ACT Education Directorate, 2014). The revised NSW Department of Education policy, expected to be released in 2018, will also retain the DMGT definition (Scott, 2017).

The DMGT refers to giftedness as untrained, natural ability that places an individual among the top 10% of same aged peers (Gagné, 2008). The definition carefully distinguishes natural ability from talent by describing talent separately as the mastery of developed abilities that places an individual among the top 10% of same aged peers in an area of human endeavour (Gagné, 2008). Synder and Linnenbrook-Garcia (2013) agreed that separating giftedness from talent was important because it creates an understanding of the catalysts that can lead to either underachievement or the development of talent. Gagné (2008) describes some of these catalysts as environmental (e.g., the influence of parents and teachers and the availability of gifted provisions) and interpersonal (e.g., the child's individual traits, and levels of motivation, autonomy, effort and perseverance).

Australia does not have legislation that mandates meeting the needs of students who are gifted (Merrotsy, 2017; Townend, Pendergast, & Garvis, 2014; Vialle & Rogers, 2009). The Australian National Curriculum states that "gifted and talented students are entitled to rigorous, relevant, and engaging learning opportunities drawn from the Australian Curriculum and aligned with their individual learning needs, strengths, interests and goals" (Australian Curriculum, Assessment, and Reporting Authority, n.d., para. 1). This policy aligns with gifted education policies in NSW (NSW Department of Education, 2004) and the ACT (ACT Education Directorate, 2014) in which schools have a responsibility to identify students who are gifted and to implement developmentally appropriate provisions. The policies of both jurisdictions have drawn on the evidence base for gifted education to recommend enrichment, accelerated learning, grouping and counselling as appropriate provisions in schools. It is clear that teachers are responsible for the successful implementation of gifted provisions (Rogers, 2007; Rowley, 2012; VanTassel-Baska, 2005). This is also evident in the Australian Professional Standards for Teachers, which outlines the need to meet the specific learning needs of all students in standard 1.5 (Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership, 2011). Yet Australian teachers do not necessarily receive pre-service training in gifted education (Fraser-Seeto, Howard, & Woodcock, 2016) or take advantage of professional development opportunities to increase their knowledge and skills in this area (Fraser-Seeto et al., 2015). In summary, gifted practices and teacher knowledge and skills regarding these practices can influence the quality of education for children who are gifted.

1.5 Context of This Study

Home education numbers are increasing in Australia, following a global trend (Kunzman & Gaither, 2013; Morton, 2010). There is an unknown number of home educators who do not engage with their State or Territories regulatory body (Jackson & Allan, 2010), so estimates of the total number of home educators in Australia vary widely (English, 2015a). This study is primarily located in the state of NSW and the geographically co-located territory of the ACT. There are slightly differing legislative requirements directing home education registration in each state and territory, known as the Education Act 1990 in NSW (NSW Parliamentary Counsel, 1990) and the Education Act 2004 in the ACT (ACT Parliamentary Counsel, 2004). This legislation directs home education registration and compliance procedures. According to the NSW home-schooling registration information package (BOSTES, 2013), registration can only be made on a full-time basis, meaning the child cannot be simultaneously enrolled in school. In contrast, in the ACT parents may negotiate the terms of enrolment with their local school, allowing part-time enrolments (ACT Education Directorate, 2013). NSW home educators are required to follow the Board of Studies syllabus, encompassing six key learning areas, while ACT home educators have no set curriculum requirements. As such the population of interest in

this study may be engaged in full time or part time home education and due to the strong legislative requirements to register children for home school in these jurisdictions it is likely the majority of respondents will be registered home educators. Although the growth in home education numbers has generated an increased interest in home education research, there is very limited knowledge of home educators with children who are gifted in the Australian educational context.

1.6 Statement of the Problem

There is very limited empirical data about home educators in Australia or why they decide to home educate their child who is gifted. In addition, there are internationally reported concerns about the use of gifted educational provisions and the school engagement of children who are gifted. Currently there is poor understanding of factors influencing the decision to educate children who are gifted at home or whether the educational provisions or engagement of the child influences this decision. A key aim of this study is to draw together the body of research on gifted provisions and the theoretical lens of school engagement to investigate parent decisions to home educate their children who are gifted.

2 Literature Review

This chapter first explains the review process used to locate literature for this review. From this review the known factors associated with the decision to home educate will be identified. The role of specific learner characteristics such as giftedness or other learner differences will be specifically investigated. Following this, the review considers research findings about the availability of gifted provisions and the engagement of the gifted or high ability child in school. Empirical evidence concerning child engagement and the development of the school engagement construct will be explained to provide an understanding of engagement and how this may relate to home education decisions.

2.1 Literature Review Process

Research on home education is contained within a small body of empirical studies in peer-reviewed journals (e.g., Morton, 2010; Parsons & Lewis, 2010) and dissertations. A larger body of 'grey literature' also comprises opinion pieces, government reports and parliamentary enquiries (e.g., Tabrett & McHugh, 2003; Select Committee on Home Schooling, 2014).

This literature review identified scholarly sources using Informit's education, arts and humanities, and social sciences databases. EBSCOhost platform databases searched incuded Academic Search Premier, Education Research Complete, Humanities International Complete and Psychology and Behavioral Sciences Collection. In addition, PsycINFO, ERIC and the International Center for Home Education Research (ICHER) databases were also searched. Key search terms included: home+education, homeschool, gifted+engagement, gifted+achievement, underachievement, gifted+school dropout and various combinations of these descriptors (e.g., "gifted+homeschool"). Home education studies were included if they addressed factors associated with home education decisions. The search parameters applied to peer-reviewed

¹ Grey Literature is produced at all levels of government, by academics, business or other interested parties and industry in print and electronic formats, but which is not controlled by commercial publishers (Saleh, Ratajeski, & Bertolet, 2014).

journals with dates inclusive of 2000 - 2017.

This comprehensive search revealed 63 international peer-reviewed articles addressing factors associated with home education, however most lacked empirical data. A separate gifted engagement and underachievement search was conducted that revealed 80 peer-reviewed articles relevant to the aims of the current study. Due to limited empirical evidence in peer-reviewed journals, some examples of grey literature were included such as empirical research reports and literature reviews commissioned for government agencies. In addition, research dissertations were also consulted to gain thorough understanding of research being conducted in this field.

2.2 Factors Associated with the Decision to Home Educate

This section of the literature review will discuss known factors leading to home education, as identified in the review of literature. The factors identified include: religious and philosophical reasons, flexible educational choices, dissatisfaction with school and learner differences. Historically, religion was one of the most commonly cited reasons for choosing to home educate (Carper, 2000; Harding, 2011). Recently, research evidence suggests that the reasons families choose to home educate have become more diverse (Jackson & Allan, 2010; McFall, 2016). For example, Jackson and Allan (2010) concluded that reasons to home educate fell into two broad categories: "real or perceived negatives" of mainstream education and "real or percieved benefits" of home education (p. 351). Similarly, Parson and Lewis (2010) and Croft (2013) described "push" factors away from school-based education. Through the analysis of their online survey, Parson and Lewis (2010) described these negative or push factors as dissatisfaction with school and perceived child needs that were unmet. Additionally, Croft (2013) described "pull" factors to describe positive parent perceptions towards home education such as increased family time.

Recent empirical evidence suggests that these broad categories also reflect factors associated with the decision to home educate in Australia and similar countries. These can be described as: philosophical choice and religious reasons (Bielick, Chandler, & Broughman, 2001; BOSTES, 2016; Isenberg, 2007; Select Committee on Home Schooling, 2014), flexible schooling options and the availability of school choice (Buckingham & Jha, 2015), dissatisfaction with school education (McFall, 2016), a belief that the family can provide a better education at home (Bielick, Chandler, & Broughman, 2001), positive relationships with home education regulatory bodies (Arora, 2006), special needs or disability (Bielick et al., 2001; Select Committee on Home Schooling, 2014) and addressing the needs of specific groups (Kendall & Taylor, 2016). These identified factors will be discussed in the following sections.

2.2.1 Religious and Philosophical Reasons.

Literature suggests home education has historically been a choice made for religious or philosophical reasons (Aurini & Davis, 2005; Isenberg, 2007; Jackson & Allan, 2010; Jolly et al., 2013), but religious reasons may be declining as a major influence in this decision (Arai, 2000; McFall, 2016). According to Canadian studies by Arai (2000) and Aurini and Davis (2005), home education increased in the 1970s and many home educators were fundamental Christians who chose to home educate as a way of exposing their children to religious teachings. However, in Arai's (2000) study (N = 23), only eight participants said religion was the most important reason for their decision to home educate. Similarly, McFall (2016) found that moral and religious reasons ranked as the fourth most important reason for home education, behind academic concerns, family time and untraditional educational approaches. It is difficult to know with certainty whether religious reasons are declining or reasons for home educating are becoming more diverse.

In contrast to religious belief, philosophical reasons identified by researchers include holding different beliefs to those of the child's school or different beliefs about the value of school environments and how children learn (Isenberg, 2007; Spiegler, 2010). As for religious reasons, the categories describing philosophical reasons in research are also ambiguous. Bielick, et al. (2001) analysed data from the Parent Survey of National Household Education (N = 275) in the USA and found the reasons parents chose to home educate could be coded into sixteen categories, of which six broadly related to philosophical reasons. These included to give a child a better education at home (49%), poor learning environment at school (26%), family reasons (17%), to develop character/morality (15%), objection to what school teaches (12%), and other problems with available schools (12%). Several studies have also found that parent views of family and parenting roles have shaped the decision to home educate. For example, Green and Hoover-Dempsey's (2007) survey research suggested that parent participants (N = 136) reported the belief that they were personally responsible for their child's education, hence influencing a decision to home educate their child. A further example is evident in a case study of three families (English, 2015b), which found that parents' decision to home educate was linked closely to their philosophical views of attachment parenting and family cohesion. A study by Butler et al. (2015) focused on family-centric home educators and family-centric public school families, comparing their level of cohesiveness and positive interactions to see if these influenced the choice to home educate. Although home education families scored more positively on measures of cohesion and interactions, Butler and colleagues concluded the differences between the two groups were only moderate and did not account for the decision to home educate. However, they did suggest the necessity of more research to determine if the experiences of specific sub-groups would yield a different result. Nevertheless, these studies demonstrate that a diverse range of factors have been described as philosophical reasons in the literature and these clearly influence the decision to home educate.

2.2.2 Flexible Education Options and the Availability of Educational Choice.

A perception of lack of choice in more traditional schooling may be a factor in the decision to home educate, according to Jolly et al. (2013). They point to the example of the United States where a perceived lack of control over their children's education appears to be an overarching theme in parents' choice to home educate. A similar factor may be relevant in the Australian context, as strictly applied school enrolment zones, selective-entry processes for

schools designed for gifted and talented children, and financial constraints can also limit educational choices (Buckingham & Jha, 2015). However, it is notable that parents in Australia have a relatively wide selection of schooling options including home education as well as schools operated by government (including selective schools for high ability learners in some states), independent, religious, and alternative schools such as Steiner and Montessori. Lindsay (2003) suggested that Australia has relatively high rates of home education, possibly due to the availability and legality of home education in Australia alongside these more traditional schooling options.

Therefore, lack of availability of educational choice is a possible factor in some educational jurisdictions while in countries like Australia where home education is legal, the availability of this choice of education may also influence the decision to home educate.

2.2.3 Dissatisfaction with Schooling.

Evidence from both empirical research and grey literature indicates that dissatisfaction with schooling is a factor leading to disengagement from school systems and subsequent decisions to home educate. In doctoral research, McFall (2016) used a snowball sampling strategy to survey 1,971 families who home educated in the United States and found the most common factor related broadly to dissatisfaction with academic instruction. Parents reported that large class sizes, the overall quality of classroom instruction, a lack of confidence in teaching staff, and a focus on 'teaching to the test', were all influential factors in their decision to home educate. Further, Mazama and Lundy (2013) found in their study of African American parents that their reasons to home educate also related to a lack of quality school education. Additionally, these parents commonly reported racism in schools as a factor in their decision to home educate. Parents in these studies largely reported dissatisfaction with the quality of education (Mazama & Lundy, 2013; McFall, 2016) and culturally insensitive curriculum (Mazama & Lundy, 2013).

In Morton's (2010) descriptive study of 19 parents in the United Kingdom (UK), parents

reported that bullying, special needs of their child, other negative experiences of their child and the attitudes of the school influenced their decision to home educate. Morton's study clearly identified that decisions to home educate do not come easily to many families. Eight of the nineteen parents interviewed chose to home educate as 'a last resort', feeling they had no option other than to home educate. These parents also described the considerable length of time it took to decide to home educate and described numerous attempts to address the issues at school before electing to home educate. Similarly, McDonald and Lopes (2014) reported many Australian families worked with the schools to meet their child's needs, often until a crisis point occurred, which became the point of withdrawing their child from school. Arai (2000) agreed that specific incidents usually precede the decision to home educate. Therefore, in comparison to the notion of school choice as a factor in home education, parents' decision to home educate is not necessarily their first educational choice, with some evidence suggesting parents may only make this decision after dissatisfaction with formal schooling.

2.2.4 Learner Differences.

While some studies report dissatisfaction with school, other studies report learner difference as a factor in their decision to home educate. Research on the home education of specific populations such as children with a disability generally support the findings of other researchers that parent disatisfaction with schooling is a major factor in the decision to home educate. The literature in this field has mostly involved small sample sizes and case studies. Kendall and Taylor (2016) in the UK investigated the perspectives of parents (N = 7) whose children had disabilities (mostly Autistic Spectrum Disorder). Parents in this study reported child needs were not met and perceived a lack of understanding from staff about their child, a lack of school partnership with families and an adverse effect of the school environment on their child. Similarly, a study by McDonald and Lopes (2014) also included parents (N = 7) of children aged 4-14 years with an Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD). These parents also perceived there to be a lack of "fit" between school practices and individual needs of their children. Arora (2006) also

reported in a UK study (N = 65) that a perception that the child needs were not met and bullying were the most frequent reasons for the decision to home educate. Parson and Lewis (2010) categorised reasons such as those described above as "push" factors away from school. In their online survey research based in the UK (N = 27), parents reported these push factors as negative experiences with formal provisions in schools and the perceived inability of schools to meet the needs of their children. In summary, the perceived lack of fit and an inability of the school to meet the needs of children with disability could be categorised as push factors away from school and significant factors influencing home education choice.

2.2.5 Children who are Gifted and Home Educated.

Although there is very little research about gifted populations in home education environments (Winstanley, 2009), a link between giftedness and home education choice has been established in a small number of reports. Killeen (2000) conducted a case study (N = 3) which found that in the flexibility of home education environments, children's interests, needs and abilities were well catered for. Two empirical studies have specifically focused on parents of children who were gifted and have also found evidence of home education in this population. For example, Rimlinger (2016) investigated psychological well-being of parents with children who were gifted and found a portion of the sample did home educate (Australian sample n = 9; American sample n = 71). Parents in each country indicated they did not believe schools could meet their children's needs. These findings are supported by Jolly et al.'s (2013) exploratory survey of American home educating parents (N = 987), which included interviews with 44 participants. Parents reported their children were bored, the work was not interesting, the pace was slow, relationships were difficult, and parents saw little if any growth in their children's learning prior to their decision to home educate. A lack of mandate protecting the rights of gifted learners may have led to a perceived lack of support for the family and contributed to the decision to home educate (Jolly et al., 2013; Jolly, 2014). A further study by Jolly and Matthews (2017), reported the stories of four mothers of home educated children who were gifted and had

started blogging online to reduce feelings of isolation. These parents reported that blogging allowed self-expression, social interaction and exchanges of information. Additionally, Jolly et al. (2013) suggested that home educators with children who are gifted tend not to seek out gifted organisations for support, possibly perceiving a disconnect between such organisations and the needs of their gifted children who are home educated. While there is a necessity for further research on children who are gifted and the choice to home educate, it is evident from Jolly et al.'s (2013) and Rimlinger's (2016) research that parents perceive there to be a lack of support and that their children's needs are not being met in school.

In summary, there is a broad range of reasons why families choose to home educate. While religious reasons were historically reported as one of the main reasons families home educated, reasons today tend to be more diverse. Recent research identifies reasons such as the availability or lack of availability of educational choice, philosophical reasons, dissatisfaction with schools and specifically dissatisfaction with the education of learners with disability and differences. Critically, only a small body of empirical research about the home education of children who are gifted could be identified. Little is known about this group, about why parents have chosen to home educate, what their needs are and how these needs can be accommodated. Research by Rimlinger (2016) and Jolly et al. (2013) suggests a need to review literature in gifted education to understand the school environment prior to some families' decision to home educate.

2.3 The Use of Gifted Provisions in Schools

Common approaches to providing gifted education in schools are acceleration, enrichment, grouping and counselling. Acceleration involves moving through the curriculum more quickly and can take many forms, including grade skipping or part-time placement in a higher grade (Davis, Rimm, & Siegle, 2011; Vialle & Rogers, 2009). Rogers' (2010) review of 234 studies of various forms of acceleration concluded acceleration had a strong, positive overall academic effect and a smaller but still positive social-emotional effect. Others such as Marsh (2016) have found that acceleration can have a negative effect on academic self-concept, while Neihart (2007) and Freeman (2010) found negative effects for some individuals but no adverse effects for groups of accelerated students. Overall, however, acceleration is widely recommended as a positive intervention (Colangelo, Assouline, & Gross, 2004; Gross & Van Vliet, 2005; Hattie, 2009; Rogers, 2010a; Steenbergen-Hu & Moon, 2011). In contrast to faster movement through curriculum content, enrichment involves undertaking educational activities outside the core curriculum or pursuing topics in greater depth or breadth (Davis, Rimm, & Siegle, 2011; Vialle & Rogers, 2009).

Grouping children who are gifted together, on a part-time or full-time basis, is an organisational strategy that has been shown to increase achievement in reading (Reis, 2014) and mathematics (Gavin & Adelson, 2014) and social acceptance (Kronborg & Plunkett, 2015), although both like-ability and mixed-ability groupings are seen as beneficial by children who are gifted (Schroth, 2014). According to Clark (2013) and Eddles-Hirsch et al. (2010), support from school personnel who understand both the cognitive and affective implications of giftedness is required.

There are a number of evidence-based provisions available according to State and Territory gifted education policies (ACT Education Directorate, 2014; NSW Department of Education, 2004), yet research into education of gifted children in Australian schools indicates that some provisions are much more commonly used than others. In a study by Gross et al. (2011) with experienced educators from each State, enrichment in mixed-ability classrooms, access to curriculum beyond grade level and performance-based grouping for differentiated tasks were most frequently provided. Grade skipping or part-time placement in a higher grade were much less common than in-class provisions, which is similar to findings from Jarvis and Henderson's (2015) study of 71 schools in South Australia.

Rogers' (2007) synthesis of published international research produced five provisions

that schools and education systems should consider, while VanTassel-Baska (2005) created a list of "nonnegotiable" provisions. Both scholars agreed that children who are gifted need differentiated instruction regarding daily access to an appropriately accelerated level of content and resources in their areas of talent, a faster pace of instruction with less revision, and opportunities to learn with like-ability peers. Both emphasise that gifted practices should be individualised according to a child's needs and what is possible in a given school. VanTassel-Baska (2005) also advocated an active partnership with the family to ensure a good fit for the child.

2.4 Experiences in School and Underachievement of Children who are Gifted

While there are known concerns about the limited use of gifted provisions in schools (Jarvis & Henderson, 2015), there are also concerns about the underachievement of children who are gifted (Landis & Reschly, 2013). Gifted underachievement has been defined as the failure to transform exceptional ability (giftedness) into exceptional achievement (talent) (Gagné, 2004; 2008) and as a significant gap between expected superior ability and actual achievement (Reis & McCoach, 2000). Estimates of underachievement range from between 38 and 75 percent of children who are gifted (Senate Select Committee, 2001), which are consistent with others' estimates that up to 50% of children with high ability do not reach their potential (McCormick & Plucker, 2013; Morisano & Shore, 2010).

Low self-concept, low self-motivation, low goal-valuation and negative attitudes toward school and teachers are also common characteristics associated with underachievement (Reis & Mc Coach, 2000; Snyder & Linnenbrink-Garcia, 2013). In addition, common reported characteristics of children who are gifted, such as perfectionism, asynchronous development, and a mental age mismatch with peers, may make engagement difficult in inclusive, age-based classrooms (McCormick & Plucker, 2013).

There is some suggestion that gifted underachievement begins with a lack of adequate

challenge in the early years of schooling. Snyder and Linnenbrink-Garcia (2013) described a number of pathways that lead to gifted underachievement. One of these pathways demonstrates the problematic nature of a child who links their high academic self-concept to their academic achievement in the absence of challenge at school. When the challenge level increases it may threaten a child's academic self-concept and the child may respond by disengaging (e.g., using less effort to complete tasks). Over time this can lead to underachievement.

Some scholars suggest that gifted underachievement can be reversed through the use of appropriate educational provisions. For example, Bennett-Rappell and Northcote (2016) recommended one-to-one teaching, positive teacher-child relationships and curriculum differentiation. In addition, Gagné (2004; 2008) reported that provisions such as enrichment, pacing of curriculum, grouping and acceleration can influence whether a child underachieves.

Child gender may also influence gifted underachievement and school dropout. While there is some research on school dropout of children who are gifted (Renzulli & Park, 2000), studies on general child populations have reported males being approximately three times more likely than females to underachieve (McCoach & Siegle, 2003) or to drop out (Renzulli & Park, 2000).

Common explanations for school dropout in these general populations include a low sense of school belonging (Hansen & Toso, 2007), poor relationships with teachers (Kanevsky & Keighley, 2003; Renzulli & Park, 2000), boredom with school work (Hébert, 2001; Kanevsky & Keighley, 2003; Renzulli & Park, 2000), frustration with meaningless school work (Hébert, 2001; Kanevsky & Keighley, 2003) and lack of school support (Ritchotte & Graefe, 2017). Clearly underachievement appears to be linked to many indicators of the child's engagement and sense of wellbeing in school, while boys are a known risk group for school dropout in the general populations of students. While there is some evidence of school dropout being prevalent in gifted school populations, these studies largely reported disengagement factors such as poor relationships with teachers and boredom. Landis and Reschly's (2013) review of the literature through a child engagement lens offered further insight into gifted underachievement and dropout literature. Landis and Reschly (2013) found that research consistently supported the relationship between child engagement and positive outcomes, such as academic achievement and social and emotional wellbeing. More research is needed using engagement theoretical frameworks to guide underachievement and engagement research. The following section will consider school engagement, followed by a discussion on engagement theory. Finally, engagement of children who are gifted will be investigated in the literature.

2.5 The Importance of School Engagement

Interest in school engagement from researchers, teachers, and policymakers has increased in the last decade (Appleton, Christenson, & Furlong, 2008; Christenson, 2012; Fredricks, Blumenfeld, & Paris, 2004; Fredricks, Filsecker, & Lawson, 2016). In part, there is an interest in school engagement because it is seen as a significant variable that can influence academic achievement (Fredricks et al., 2004; Reschly & Christenson, 2012) and influence child outcomes in a positive way, reducing dropout rates, boredom and alienation (Chapman, Laird, Ifill, & Kewal Ramani, 2011; Fredricks et al., 2004; Fredricks et al., 2016). According to Eccles and Wang (2012), Fredricks et al. (2004), Fredricks (2014), Landis and Reschly (2013) and Marks (2000), positive academic outcomes follow high levels of child engagement in school and classroom settings. Research also supports that having a sense of belonging and acceptance within a group is crucial to children's engagement and thus their academic achievement (Finn & Zimmer, 2012; Fredricks et al., 2004).

Although school engagement is well established as a concept, there is a lack of clarity surrounding the definition of engagement and therefore many different approaches exist for assessing and reporting engagement. Reschly and Christenson (2012) described the confusing descriptions of engagement as a *jingle jangle* of terms, that is, "the same term is used to refer to different things (jingle) and different terms are used for the same thing (jangle)" (p. 11).

Engagement research has grown from several guiding theories (Reschly & Christenson, 2012), which has possibly led to the fragmented engagement literature (Fredricks et al., 2016).

One of the most significant theoretical developments in the engagement field has been the change from a singular concept of engagement to a meta-level and multi-component construct (Fredricks et al., 2016; Reschly & Christenson, 2012). Early studies viewed engagement as having one or two components. For example, two studies conducted by Finn (1993) focused on observable classroom behaviours such as being off-task and getting into trouble. These early studies linked engagement with participation constructs. Earlier behavioural engagement definitions among scholars tended not to make specific distinctions among various types of behaviour, such as participation in academic and non-academic school activities (Fredricks et al., 2004). While some early scholarly approaches represented behavioural engagement as encompassing effort and attention (Connell, 1990; Finn, 1989), Fredricks et al. (2004) subsequently presented effort as cognitive engagement and attention as behavioural aspects of engagement. Subsequently, a general consensus has emerged that engagement is a meta-construct or organising framework consisting of behavioural, emotional and cognitive forms of engagement (Eccles & Wang, 2012; Fredricks et al., 2004, 2016; Linnenbrink & Pintrich, 2003; Reschly & Christenson, 2012).

There have been calls for definitional clarity of the engagement construct (Fredricks et al., 2016; Reschly & Christenson, 2012) as it is essential for making predictions about the relationships between contextual factors, engagement, and learning outcomes (Eccles & Wang, 2012). As Fredricks et al. (2004) suggested, behaviour, emotion, and cognition can be analysed simultaneously when engagement is viewed as a meta-construct.

Although there is general agreement that engagement consists of at least these three types of engagement, some scholars suggest other types: social-behavioural engagement, relating to student attitudes and behaviour during collaborative group work (Linnenbrink-Garcia, Rogat, & Koskey, 2011; Reschly & Christenson, 2006a, 2006b); psychological engagement, based on

student perception of belonging to a community (Appleton, Christenson, Kim, & Reschly, 2006), and volitional engagement, described as "energy in action" (Filsecker & Kerres, 2014). However, more research is needed to understand how these aspects relate to existing frameworks of engagement (Fredricks et al., 2016).

2.6 Behavioural, Emotional and Cognitive Engagement

Fredricks et al. (2004) viewed engagement as a multifaceted construct, which allowed the antecedents and consequences of behaviour, emotion, and cognition to be examined simultaneously and dynamically. The construct of engagement was explained as having three types of engagement defined in line with the work of earlier scholars as outlined below. Fredricks et al.'s (2004) notion of behavioural engagement incorporated much of the earlier focus on engagement as a singular behavioural construct (e.g., Connell, 1990; Finn, 1989). It refers to participation and involvement in social, academic and/or extracurricular activities, which is considered imperative for positive academic outcomes and preventing school dropout (Fredricks et al., 2004). Emotional engagement refers to affective reactions to teachers, peers, academics or school and can influence children's motivation to do school work (Connell, 1990; Finn, 1989; Fredricks et al., 2004). Emotional engagement also creates a sense of belonging to a school community and influences willingness to be involved (Fredricks et al., 2004). Cognitive engagement, as described in this theory, involves investment in learning, being thoughtful and having a willingness to put in effort to master complex ideas and strive for mastery (Corno & Mandinach, 1983; Fredricks et al., 2004; Newmann, Wehlage, & Lamborn, 1992). In this view, cognitive engagement allows the child to understand the full meaning of material and become an expert in the learning area (Fredricks et al., 2004).

There are several measures of child engagement. Some focus on high school students only, specific subject areas such as mathematics or do not provide measures of internal consistency (Fredricks, McColskey, Meli, Mordica, Montrosse, & Mooney, 2011). Fredricks, Filsecker, and Lawson (2016) argued scholars do not always use strong conceptual frameworks

to guide the development of their measures. However, Fredricks et al. (2004) based their multidimensional construct of engagement when developing the School Engagement Measure (SEM). This measure of child engagement was used for the purpose of this research because it measured behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement within a substantiated theoretical framework and also had reliable internal consistency when used with upper primary school children. Due to the reliability of this instrument it is fair to assume that high levels of engagement as measured by the scale are associated with other positive outcomes such as academic achievement (Fredricks et al., 2016).

In summary, there is consensus that engagement is a multifaceted construct consisting of at least behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement, along with more recent suggestion of other types. Because of its conceptual clarity and cumulative evidence base, Fredricks et al.'s (2004) three-component conception of engagement will provide a theoretical foundation for this research.

2.7 Engagement of Children who are Gifted

This review identified very few studies focusing specifically on the school engagement of children who are gifted. The following review summarises the small body of extant research and highlights the concern for conceptual clarity and theoretical definition of the engagement construct.

Engagement of children who are gifted has been described in terms of what children do or what they need from schools in order to be engaged. In Forster's (2010) study of teacher beliefs about engagement of children who were gifted, teachers reported these children were engaged when on-task and involved in challenging work. Although Forster (2010) did not define engagement, teachers in this study predominantly described elements of cognitive and behavioural, but not emotional, engagement, as described in Fredricks et al.'s (2004) engagement construct.

Scholars such as Rumberger and Rotermund (2012) have drawn strong connections between dropout and engagement theory, indicating disengagement is a process that can lead to school dropout. While not directly measuring or assessing engagement, scholars have proposed that a range of elements are prerequisites to prevent school dropout of learners who are gifted. These elements include: curriculum that is responsive to children's individual needs and interests (Hansen & Toso, 2007; Housand, 2016; McCormick & Plucker, 2013; Renzulli & Park, 2000), curriculum that is challenging (Hansen & Toso, 2007; Renzulli & Park, 2000), and use of specific provisions such as acceleration, challenge and higher order thinking (McCormick & Plucker, 2013; Rogers, 2007; VanTassel-Baska, 2005). Studies of the effects of acceleration, while not measuring engagement directly, have also suggested a possible relationship with engagement. For example, McClarty (2015) found accelerated children were generally selfmotivated and exceptionally driven to gain new knowledge and skills compared to nonaccelerated children, and Rogers' (2010a) synthesis of 234 studies covering academic, social and psychological outcomes of acceleration, found a strong positive effect size (0.68) for acceleration on academic outcomes.

Some research has focussed on child-adult relationships in schools as a factor influencing engagement. Action research by Crupi Jr (2012) measured the engagement of children (N = 7) in Grades 6 to 8 who were gifted using Appleton and Christenson's (2004) understanding of engagement as a four-component model: academic, behavioural, cognitive, and affective. Using observation checklists, student engagement scales and interviews, Crupi Jr (2012) found that child-teacher relationships were a major influence on children's engagement. Similar findings were produced by a Canadian case study that reported caring teachers were influential to the learning of children who were gifted (Kanevsky & Keighley, 2003). These studies suggest that teacher-child relationships are a variable with the potential to support achievement and engagement.

In summary, there are a small number of studies that link the use of gifted provisions and

teacher support in schools and the engagement of children who are gifted. While few of these studies have directly measured engagement, or referred to a specific theoretical view of engagement, it appears reasonable to infer from McCormick and Plucker (2013), Renzulli and Park (2000) and others, that when a child's academic learning needs are met, their engagement and achievement also improves.

2.8 Summary of the Review of Literature

The review of home education literature suggests many factors that influence the decision to home educate including religious and philosophical reasons, flexible educational options, dissatisfaction with school and learner differences. Dissatisfaction with schooling and particularly, the experience of schooling and provisions for the child accounts for some decisions to home educate. Home educating parents tend to report disaffection and discontent with pedagogical decisions. These parent concerns appear to be supported in other research evidence such as Snyder and Linnenbrink-Garcia (2013) that suggests school factors, such as the infrequent provision of appropriate challenge, play a role in the underachievement and disengagement of children. Similarly, for children who are gifted, infrequent use of provisions in school may be a contributing factor to possible underachievement and disengagement at school. While there is substantial evidence supporting the use and benefits of gifted provisions there is less empirical understanding of gifted engagement. The link between school engagement and the decision to home educate appears plausible given links between school engagement and dropout (Landis & Reschly, 2013), indicating this may be a fruitful line of enquiry in understanding the decisions of home educating families of children who are gifted.

It became evident through the limited empirical data that the area of home education for children who are gifted is under-researched, with little understanding about this population of children, their experiences with home and school education and the factors leading to their parents' decision to home educate.

2.9 Study Purpose and Aim

There is limited empirical data on home education and children who are gifted. As introduced in Chapter 1, there are also known problems with the use of gifted provisions and the engagement of children who are gifted in school, which may be factors in the decision to home educate these children. However, there is no research to indicate whether educational provisions or school engagement of the gifted student contribute to parent decisions to home educate.

The purpose of this study was to understand the reasons why parents of children who are gifted choose to home educate. This study aimed to identify parent perceptions of their child's engagement at school and the educational provisions or practices available to their child in both school and home education settings. The research questions for this study are:

Research Question 1. What factors contribute to the parental decision to home educate children who are gifted or high-ability?

Research Question 2. What are parent perceptions of gifted educational practices in school settings and how do these compare to parent perceptions of gifted practices in home education?

Research Question 3. What are parent perceptions of children's engagement in school and home education settings?

3 Methodology

3.1 Research Design

This study employed survey research design with a combination of quantitative and qualitative response options. Quantitative methods were employed to gather demographic data and data on parent perceptions of children's engagement in school and home environments so that direct comparisons between home education and school engagements could be made. Qualitative questions were used to gather information about factors that influenced the decision to home educate and the child's learning and support needs. The use of mixed qualitative and quantitative methods led to a more complete understanding of the research topic (Creswell, Klassen, Plano Clark, & Smith, 2011). The term "homeschool" was used throughout the survey as this is a familiar term to parents and was the term used in the recent NSW enquiry into home education (Select Committee on Home Schooling, 2014).

The use of an online survey supported wide distribution to a group described by English (2015a) as a difficult-to-locate group. A particular benefit of an online survey for this population is the preservation of anonymity for the participant, which allowed protection of their privacy (Johnson & Christensen, 2012). For some home educating families, anonymity was likely an important consideration in their decision to participate in this research. This would have been especially important for those who were not registered with educational authorities in their state or territory and did not want to be identified. All responses remained anonymous except where participants chose to disclose their email addresses as an invitation for the researchers to ask further questions, or to enter the participation draw, which was separate to the survey submission.

3.2 Participants

The participants were 42 home educating parents (n = 41 female and n = 1 male) of children who were identified by their parents as gifted or high ability. Parents ranged in age from 29 to 54 years (M = 42, SD = 5.77). These parents were recruited from a known population of registered home educators in NSW (N = 3955) (BOSTES, 2016) and the ACT (N = 252) (ACT Education Directorate, 2016). However, there is some uncertainty about the number of home educators because it is suspected that some do not register with their state or territory regulatory body (Jackson, 2009; Reilly, 2007). Therefore, the reach and return rate of the survey was difficult to estimate. Assuming estimates of 10% of gifted children in the general population (Gagné, 2004) and a conservative estimate of 20% survey return rate, it might be expected that approximately 84 surveys would be returned from the known and registered populations.

In this exploratory study, initial participant selection was restricted to NSW and the ACT due to the uncertainty of overall home education numbers and time constraints of this research. Additionally, once the survey was released online, the researchers anticipated a "snowballing" effect since participants were encouraged to further distribute the online survey to other home educating families. For this reason, any participants from other Australian states who completed the survey were also included in the sample if they met the other inclusion criteria. To be included in the study parents were required to have made the decision to home educate after the child had experienced enrolment in a formal school system. Of the 81 people who responded to the survey, 39 were ineligible for inclusion in the sample for reasons as follows: respondents' children had *not* experienced a school environment and had only experienced home education (n = 21); parents did not believe their child was gifted or left this question blank (n = 7); responses were deemed incomplete when less than 30% of the survey was completed (n = 8); the nominated children were older than school age and had completed schooling (n = 3).

3.3 Measures

3.3.1 Demographic information.

Participants provided socio-demographic data about age, gender, occupation (using categories drawn from the Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2013), marital or partnership status, ethnicity, language, educational level, and location. Participants were asked to answer survey questions about a focal child, which was their most recently home educated (or youngest) child to ensure the most recent transition from school to home education was reported. Child demographic information including age, gender and ethnicity were also collected. It was necessary to collect demographic information as there was limited empirical understanding of this population in the Australian context. The complete survey can be found in Appendix A. See Table 1 for a summary of parent demographic information.

3.3.2 School and home education information.

Survey questions were designed to gain a deeper understanding of the context of home education and school education for children who were gifted. Data were collected about the following aspects of home education: the duration or period of time of home education, whether it was current and part-time or full-time, and whether it was seen as a temporary or permanent choice. Additionally, parents were asked about the type of school their child had previously attended (selecting from "Public", "Independent", "Steiner", "Montessori", "Religious" or "Other").

There is no current understanding of the relationship that home educating parents of gifted children have with regulatory bodies for home education. To explore these relationships, parents were asked, "How would you describe your relationship with your state or territory's regulatory body for homeschooling?". A list of responses included: "Very good", "Good", "Acceptable", "Poor", "Very poor", "Not applicable, I do not interact with any regulatory bodies". An open-ended response item gave parents an opportunity to describe or provide examples of this relationship.

3.3.3 Child giftedness and exceptionalities.

Parent understanding of child giftedness and other characteristics was assessed with three questions. Parents were first asked to explain how they had identified that their child was gifted ("How do you know your child is gifted?") by selecting a response option from the following categories: cognitive assessment, academic testing, teacher nomination, own observations, as well as an "Other" option that invited details. Parents could also select "I don't believe in labelling children, but my child has high abilities", which allowed parents who do not label children to participate. Parents could also select a statement about their child *not* being gifted or high ability, which excluded them from the sample. An open-ended response item also asked parents to describe their child's areas of ability or achievement in the gifted range. A further question with a "Yes" or "No" response option asked about any other learning needs or disabilities ("Do you believe your child also has a learning challenge or disability?"). Parents who selected "Yes" were asked to select from a list of commonly cited learning challenges or disabilities that co-exist with giftedness according to researchers such as Rogers (2010): ADHD, learning disability, Autism Spectrum Disorder, anxiety and "other" (inviting details).

3.3.4 Factors associated with parent decision to home educate.

This measure addressed the first research question about factors influencing the parents' decision to educate their child at home. These factors were assessed using an open-ended response item with the question prompt, "What factors contributed to your decision to homeschool?". This method ensured parents were not prompted or guided by pre-determined response options. To assess whether they had previously considered home education prior to their child commencing school, parents were also asked a "Yes" or "No" question, "Before your child started school, had you considered homeschooling as an option for your child?".

3.3.5 Parent perceptions of school and accommodation of learning needs

The second research question addressed the child's learning needs, how these needs were met in school and home education, and the parent's perception of the child's 'fit' at their former school. Parents were provided with an open-ended response item and question prompt, "How would you describe your child's learning needs?". No prompts or guidance were given to ensure the researcher did not influence responses. Parent perceptions of how the children's needs were met in school were assessed by asking, "Did your child's most recent teacher accommodate your child's needs?". Response options were "Yes", "No" and "Partly", with a space to add further comment. Parents were also provided with an open-ended response item and question prompt, "Thinking back to the learning needs you identified for your child, how are these needs being met through homeschooling?". No further prompt or direction was given to avoid any researcher influence over the answers. These two questions were separated in the survey to avoid parents perceiving any researcher expectations that they make direct comparisons between school and home environments.

Parents were also asked whether school was a good fit for their child (response options were "Yes", "No" and "Unsure") and "How long did you work with the school to create a good fit for your child at school before deciding to homeschool?", with four response options including "Less than 1 year", "About 2 years", "About 3 years" and "More than 3 years". Parents were also asked an open-ended response question, "Under what circumstances would you consider returning your child to school?"

3.3.5.1 Child access to gifted education practices in school and home education.

This measure also addressed the second research question about parent perceptions of gifted educational practices in school and home education. For the purpose of the current study, a measure was developed to assess children's access to six gifted education practices. First, the practice of acceleration was assessed by analysing child acceleration at school. Parents rated acceleration using multi response options including "No", "Accelerated by 1 year", "Accelerated

by 2 years", "Accelerated by 3 years", and "Accelerated by more than 3 years". Parents were also asked, "If your child was to return to school today, what year level do you think they should go into?", selecting from a list of grades (first year of school to Year 12). This was then compared to child age data provided in the demographic measure. Children were allocated a current grade level range based on their reported age. Grade level ranges were used because child age data were not sensitive enough to determine exact grade level (e.g., a six year old could be in first year of school or year one). A comparison was made between the allocated grade level range and the grade level parents would place their child if immediately returning to school.

A further five gifted educational practices were based on Rogers' (2007) literature review and synthesis of gifted education practices. Rogers (2007) identified five practices that should be utilised at least some of the time: (a) challenge in the child's specific area of talent, (b) opportunities to work independently in the child's area of talent, (c) being allowed to work at a higher grade level as needed, (d) opportunities to learn and socialise with children of similar ability, and (e) adjustments to the pace of learning and the amount of practice and review. These practices have been further supported in the work of more recent scholars (Housand, 2016; McCormick & Plucker, 2013; VanTassel-Baska, 2011). Parents rated these practices on a 5-point Likert scale where a score of 1 relates to *never* and a score of 5 relates to *all the time*. (See Appendix B). A score out of 25 was calculated by summing the scores for each of the five practices. A higher total score on this measure indicated parent belief that their child had more frequent access to gifted education practices than parents who scored lower on the same measure. Gifted education practices mean scores above three indicated these practices were available *at least* some of the time as recommended by Rogers (2007).

3.3.6 Parent perceptions of child engagement in school and home education environments.

This measure addressed the third research question about parent perceptions of engagement in school and home education to determine if the perception of the child's engagement differed for school and for home. Although engagement is typically assessed from the child's point of view, in this study the parent perspective was particularly sought because of an interest in parent perceptions of formal schooling and, beliefs about the child, and because engagement is a known factor of concern in the gifted child population. There is limited research about parent views of child engagement (Hancock & Zubrick, 2015); only two measures of parent perceptions of engagement were identified (Bell et al., 2016; Urban Institute, & Child Trends, 2002).

In this exploratory study of parent perceptions of engagement, the established measure of child-reported engagement —Fredricks, Blumenfeld, and Paris (2003) School Engagement Measure (SEM)— was modified because existing parent measures were not as comprehensive and inclusive of the dimensions of engagement as the Fredricks et al. (2003) measure. The original SEM measured child-reported perceptions of classroom engagement in three domains of engagement: emotional engagement (e.g., "I am interested in the work at school"), behavioural engagement (e.g., "I pay attention in class") and cognitive engagement (e.g., "When I read a book, I ask myself questions to make sure I understand what it is about"). In the current study, items were slightly modified to reflect parent perceptions (e.g., "My child was interested in work at school"). Following Fredricks et al.'s (2003) scale, the modified scale retained the original 19 items rated on a 5-point Likert scale, where a score of 1 represented *never* and a score of 5 represented all of the time (See Appendix C). The higher the score, the more engaged the parent perceived the child to be in school. Mean and standard deviation were calculated for total scores, which were a score of 30 for emotional engagement (6 items with five ratings each), 20 for behavioural engagement (4 items, and one scale item was removed), and 40 for cognitive engagement (8 items).

The school engagement scales indicated good internal consistency with a suitable Cronbach's alpha for emotional engagement (α = .87) and cognitive engagement (α = .86). The internal consistency of the behaviour engagement scale yielded a lower Cronbach's alpha of .61. Fredricks et al. (2003) similarly reported a lower alpha (.75) for behavioural engagement compared to emotional and cognitive engagement. Following Pallant's (2016) suggestion that the reliability of a scale can be improved by removing low scoring scale items, one item was removed ("When I am in class, I just act as if I am working"), which improved the alpha (α = .67). This alpha is slightly below the minimum acceptable .70 alpha level suggested by Pallant (2016), which could also be due to the small number of items in the scale (Pallant, 2016). The remaining 18 items were used for analysis in this study.

The measure of parent perceptions of their child's engagement in home was applied as a parallel measure of engagement at school. This measure was located in an earlier section of the survey to ensure some separation from the home engagement scale. The same Likert scale described above assessed the 19 items (see Appendix D). Items were further modified to reflect the home education context (e.g., "My child is interested in the work we do while homeschooling."). The scales of engagement at home had slightly lower internal consistency than the school scales (emotional, $\alpha = .76$; cognitive, $\alpha = .79$), while the behaviour engagement scale yielded an unsatisfactory Cronbach's alpha of .58 after the same low scoring item was removed as in the school scale ("When my child is completing work, they just act as if they are working"). Despite the unacceptable alpha for behavioural engagement in home education, the behaviour engagement scales were still of exploratory interest in the study. Possible reasons for the low alpha will be addressed in the Discussion.

Parent perceptions of school engagement were also investigated with further analysis of open-ended responses. In particular, it was theorised that if child engagement was a factor influencing parent decisions to home educate this might be indicated in parent responses to questions about the factors that influenced their decision and their perceptions of how the child's needs had been met in the former school environment. Qualitative responses were scrutinised for examples specifically indicative of parent reports of the child's behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement.

3.4 Procedure

An online survey was developed and presented in Qualtrics. The link was sent in an invitational email to identified gifted and home education organisations in NSW and the ACT. These were Home Education Australia (HEA), Home Education Network of Canberra and the Southern Tablelands (HENCAST), Sydney Home Education Network (SHEN), Australian Capital Territory Gifted Families Support Group (ACT GFSG), and New South Wales Gifted Families Support Group (NSW GFSG). The organisations distributed the survey through their usual methods of online communication, such as email and posting to Facebook groups. Organisations and members were encouraged to share the link with other home educators to reach as many parents as possible. This form of snowball sampling is an effective strategy to find hard-to-reach groups (Johnson & Christensen, 2012).

Parents accessed the survey online and were able to complete it anonymously at their convenience, using large or small screen devices. The survey remained open for four weeks, and a request to re-distribute was sent to the organisations approximately one and a half weeks before the closing date. A Participant Information and Consent Statement was presented first and parents clicked to consent to participation. The survey was completed in an average time of 80 minutes reflecting the extent to which parents volunteered their time to provide extended responses to open-ended questions. At the end of the survey, parents were offered the opportunity to enter a draw to win one of two fifty-dollar Coles/Myer vouchers as an incentive for participation and a token of appreciation. Sixty-one of the original parents completing the survey took part in the draw. Parent names and contact details for the draw were entered on a separate survey page and not linked to parents' survey responses. Names were only accessed

after two independent researchers chose a number at random (between 1 and 61), which selected the winners who were then contacted.

This research project received ethics approval from Macquarie University Human Research Ethics Committee (reference number: 5201700385), which ensures the research design considers the rights, needs, and values of the participants (Creswell, 2003) by anticipating and minimising harm to participants. Confidentiality was assured, and participants had the right to withdraw at any time without consequence.

3.5 Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics such as frequencies and percentages were reported for most demographic data, as well as school and home contextual information and child giftedness and learning challenges. Means and standard deviation were reported for basic demographic information such as parent and child ages. Means and standard deviation were also reported for engagement scales and assessment of child access to gifted education practices. Paired-samples t-tests compared parent perceptions of behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement in school and in home environments. Acceleration was reported as frequencies and percentages. Differences in actual and parent judged grade levels were reported as frequencies and percentages.

Qualitative data gathered from open-ended response questions such as "What factors contributed to your decision to homeschool?" and "How would you describe your child's learning needs?" were analysed. Responses were coded according to discrete themes, which is a method of thematic analysis used to explore variables (Johnson & Christensen, 2012). Intercoder agreement for thematic coding was assessed using the method described in Campbell, Quincy, Osserman and Pedersen (2013). For each open response question, one supervisor and the researcher developed emerging themes and independently coded 20% of responses to determine the percentage of agreement (agreements divided by a sum of agreements plus

disagreements, multiplied by 100). When agreement fell below the researcher-agreed acceptable level of 85%, the two coders revised themes together and independently coded a further 20% of the question's responses. This process continued until the researchers achieved agreement of 85% or higher. Final agreements achieved were between 87% and 100%. Once acceptable agreement was achieved, one researcher continued to code the remaining responses. As described in the previous engagement measure, parent responses to open-ended questions were also analysed for indicators of the child's engagement at school. Responses were coded as behavioural, emotional or cognitive engagement and reported as frequencies and percentages.

4 Results

This chapter presents the findings for the three research questions. The principal analysis focused on parent reported factors that contributed to their decision to home educate. Parents' perceptions of the availability of gifted education practices and the engagement of their children in both school and home education settings, are also reported. Demographic and background information on the participating families are presented first to frame an understanding of the population of interest in this study.

4.1 Demographic and Background Information

This section reports demographic and background information relating to home educating parents and their focal child who is gifted. Information on schools attended and relationships with school systems and home educating regulatory bodies are also reported. This section also reports on the identification of giftedness and prevalence of twice exceptionality in the population of children in this sample.

Thirty-five surveys (83.3%) were completed by parents who were primarily responsible for home education, while the remaining seven surveys (16.7%) were completed by parents who shared the responsibility with a partner or family member. Thirty-nine parents lived with a partner (92.9%); one parent did not disclose this information (2.4%). At the time of the survey 37 parents (88.1%) were actively home educating their children and five parents had returned their children to school at the time of the survey.

4.1.1 Parent and child demographic information.

Demographic information on parent and child provided an initial understanding of this population in the Australian context. The duration of home education for the focus child ranged between 2 months and 10 years with an average of 3.6 years (SD = 2.3). These children ranged in age from 5 to 18 years (M = 11.21, SD = 2.92). Seventeen children were male (40.5%), 24 were female (57.1%) and one child was identified with a gender other than male or female (2.4%).

Parent demographic information is reported in Table 1. More than 75% of parents reported their level of education as undergraduate or above and over 50% nominated their occupation as "professional", according to ABS (2013) occupation categories. Specifically, nine (21%) parents reported their occupation in fields of education such as teaching in schools and early childhood services.

Table 1

Parent Demographic Information

Characteristic	n	%
Ethnicity		
- Australian	39	92.9
- Blended Australian identity ^a	3	7.1
Main language ^b		
- English	42	100
Highest level of education		
- Postgraduate	19	45.2
- Undergraduate	13	31.0
- Post School Cert./ Diploma	7	16.7
- Year 12 or below	3	7.1
Occupation		
- Managers	5	11.9
- Professionals	22	52.4
- Community & Personal Service	5	11.9
- Sales Workers	5	11.9
- Occupation not specified	5	11.9
Place of residence		
- ACT	5	11.9
- NSW	29	69.0
- QLD	2	4.8
- TAS	1	2.4
- VIC	4	9.5
- WA	1	2.4

Note. ^a Self reported as Australian/Chinese (n = 1), and Australian/English (n = 2).

^b Other languages spoken at home included Auslan, Cantonese, Japanese, Maori and Spanish.

4.1.2 Child giftedness and exceptionalities.

One of the criteria for participation in this study was that the home educated child was considered gifted or high ability by the parent. Parents indicated from a given list how they knew their child was gifted, and 59% of parents specified more than one method of identification. Parents selected their own observations (n = 25), reading or mathematics assessment (n = 24), cognitive assessment (n = 23), teacher nomination (n = 13), and other (n = 2), a category which included open-ended responses indicating a therapist had assessed the child or the child had been assessed with a special test.

Half of the parents (n = 21) identified that their child was twice exceptional, having both parent-defined giftedness or high ability and a learning challenge or disability. Twelve of these parents (57% of those reporting a child with twice exceptionality) said their child had more than one learning challenge or disability. The most commonly reported conditions were anxiety (n =11), autism (n = 9), ADHD (n = 4), and learning disability (n = 4). The 'other' (n = 10) category included a range of conditions: Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (OCD), hearing impairment, motor skills, Sensory Processing Disorder (SPD) (n = 2) and Auditory Processing Disorder (APD). Two parents reported they were not sure if their child was twice exceptional. One of these wrote, "Likely to be mildly ASD [Autism Spectrum Disorder], but very hard to say as there is so much cross over between PG [Profoundly Gifted] and ASD"; the other parent reported, "Tm actually not sure if there's a learning challenge or if it's just part of the nature of being gifted. He certainly has many over excitabilities/sensitivities".

4.1.3 Child learning needs.

Parents' perceptions of children's learning needs provided further information about the learning needs to be accommodated in school and home education settings. Parents could mention as many learning needs as appropriate to their child. Parents (n = 41) provided 73 descriptions of their child's learning needs. These were coded and thematised according to similar units of meaning, as summarised in Table 2.

Table 2

Parent Perceptions of Child Learning Needs

Learning Need	Frequency	Example
Intellectual challenge or stimulation	19	"Needs to be challenged by learning at a level much higher than her age or year level."
Learning or emotional support	16	"Difficult to balance immature emotional level/age with advanced ability. Learning needs are few, emotional support required is greater than average."
Adjusted pace of learning	13	"A need to progress at a fast rate" "Learns best when allowed to progress at her own pace"
Learn autonomously in their area of interest or strength	12	"Needs to set her own goals and achieve them in her own way with her own timing and not too much interference."
Physical action	3	"Needs hands on, interactive learning with lots of movement."
Sense of belonging	3	"Needs to feel comfortable and accepted to learn well. Things that everyone needs, I just notice it more for him."
Like-minded peers	3	"He can be easily frustrated by same age peers. He needs to be intellectually stimulated, socialise with peers of similar abilities."
Other	4	"complex" and "special"
Total	73	

Note. Parents could mention more than one learning need.

The most frequent reported need was *Intellectual challenge or stimulation* (19 responses, 26%). Parent responses indicated that their child needed a high level of challenge or stimulation. For example, "Needs to be challenged by learning at a level much higher than her age or year level."

The second most frequent reported need was *Learning or emotional support* (16 responses, 22%), which was characterised by responses such as "Difficult to balance immature emotional level/age with advanced ability. Learning needs are few, emotional support required is greater than average."

The third most reported need was an *Adjusted pace of learning* (13 responses, 18%), which related to needing a faster or slower pace of learning. For example, "A need to progress at a fast rate" and "Learns best when allowed to progress at her own pace".

Parents also perceived their child needed to *Learn autonomously in their area of interest and strength* (12 responses, 16%) and to a lesser extent needed *Physical action* (3 responses, 4%), *Sense of belonging* (3 responses, 4%), *Like-minded peers* (3 responses, 4%) and *Other* (4 responses, 6%). *Other* included comments such as "complex" and "special".

4.1.4 School background.

Analyses of the type of school that children attended provided contextual information about the environment prior to the decision to home educate. Over half of the children (n = 23, 57.5%) had attended a public school, five attended independent schools (12.5%) and seven had attended religious (17.5%) schools. Five parents (12.5%) said their children attended two or more schools before making the decision to home educate.

4.1.5 Parents' relationships with regulatory bodies.

To provide further contextual understanding of the home education environment parents were asked about their relationship with their State or Territory home education regulatory body. On average parents reported their relationship with regulatory authorities as "Good" or "Very good" (n = 30) indicating the two highest response options (M = 4.75, SD = 1.43). Four parents reported an acceptable relationship, three parents rated their relationship as "Poor" or "Very poor", and three parents reported no interaction with a regulatory body at all.

4.2 Factors Contributing to Parents' Decision to Home Educate

These results addressed the first research question about factors that contributed to the decision to home educate. This question was addressed with open-ended qualitative responses that were thematically grouped as described in Chapter 3 (p. 35). The factors identified by parents as contributing to their decision to home educate are summarised in Table 3.

Table 3General Factors for Home Education Choice

Factor	Frequency	Example
Dissatisfaction with school	87	"So, basically, my decision was based on
		dealing with ignorant teachers who lacked
		compassion and any ability to see a child as an
		individual."
Parent centred concerns	9	"By the end of the year, we were so stressed,
		we knew home-schooling had to be on the
		cards."
Positive perceptions of home	9	"I love that we can cater to his desires to learn
education		and question."
Philosophical and religious	7	"I preferred her to learn for its own sake rather
reasons		than as a way to value herself."
		"Faith."
Parent relationship with	2	"The teacher pretty much laughed in my face
teacher		when I suggested it."
Total	114	

Note. Parents could report more than one factor.

The most frequent factor identified was *Parent dissatisfaction with school* (87 responses, 76%). Other responses of dissatisfaction with school included lack of understanding or inability of an individual teacher or school to meet the needs of gifted/twice exceptional children and lack of availability of challenge.

The second factor identified was thematically labelled as *Parent-centred concerns* (9 responses, 8%). Responses in this factor indicated parent affective reactions to their child's experiences in school. For example, one parent reported "By the end of the year, we were so stressed, we knew home-schooling had to be on the cards."

Several responses were also thematically grouped as *Positive perceptions about home education* (9 responses, 8%). These were distinguished from the factor of *Parent dissatisfaction with school* because these responses did not refer to school environments as a source of dissatisfaction, rather parents replied with positive responses about home education. For example, one parent said, "We wanted to allow our daughter to slowly work on her weaknesses in a supportive environment".

A small number of parent reported factors were thematically grouped as *Philosophical reasons* (6 responses, 5%). These responses focussed on what could be achieved in home education, rather than a concern with the school environment. For example, "We wanted to know our kids well and give them all freedom to learn at their own pace". Only one response indicated *Religious reasons* as a factor. This person provided the response "Faith".

Given that 76% of responses referred to parent dissatisfaction with school as a reason they chose to home educate, these responses were further analysed. These perceptions included the following sub-themes:

(a) A lack of understanding or inability of the school or individual teacher to meet the needs of gifted/twice exceptional children (30 responses, 34.4% of dissatisfaction) described a major source of dissatisfaction with school. For example, "A well resourced school was unable to cater for her.", and "My decision was based on dealing with ignorant teachers who lacked compassion and any ability to see a child as an individual."

(b) *Child's emotional response* (22 responses, 25.3% of dissatisfaction) a theme indicative of emotional reactions. For example, "She was having melt down and school refusal."

(c) *Lack of availability of challenge* (13 responses, 17.2% of dissatisfaction) indicated concern about the challenge level of schoolwork. For example, "She didn't mind helping other kids but wanted more of a challenge."

(d) *Poor relationships with peers* (8 responses, 9.2% of dissatisfaction). For example, one parent said, "Students were bullying her as she was different".

(e) *Poor relationships with teachers and other staff* (7 responses, 8% of dissatisfaction), included responses about poor relationships with adults as well as inappropriate adult behaviours. For example, "Bullying within the school system from teachers and admin staff" and "Bad teaching, a teacher in Year 2 screwed up her homework in front of her and threw it in the BIN!"

(f) Suggested provision for gifted or twice exceptional child not deemed appropriate (5

responses, 5.7% of dissatisfaction) indicating the parent was not satisfied with the level of provision offered to their child. For example, "The local school wanted to accelerate her 3yrs for maths and English. We felt this was too big an age gap socially and emotionally". Another parent reported, "Having been approached, the grade 7 teacher's disappointing solution to placating me was to send my daughter to supervise prep [first year of school] and grade one children, rather than providing extra learning opportunities."

Parents were also asked whether they had considered home education as an option for their child prior to starting school (selecting from yes or no). This would indicate parents' awareness of home education as a legitimate alternative to sending their child to school. Forty parents responded to this question with 19 (47.5%) of these parents indicating they had not considered home education prior to their child's schooling experience. In total 19 of the 42 (45.2%) parents saw home education as a permanent choice for their child, seven (16.7%) reported home education was a temporary choice and 16 (38.1%) were undecided.

4.3 Parent Perceptions of Gifted Educational Provisions in Schools and How These Perceptions Compared to Home Education

Results presented in this section address research question 2: What are parents' perceptions of gifted educational practices in school and how do parents' perceptions of school gifted education compare to parents' perceptions of gifted practices in home education? To answer this question, an analysis of school acceleration and other gifted practices in school and home education are reported. Parent-reported child needs and how these needs were met by their child's last school teacher and through home education were also analysed.

4.3.1 Parent perception of access to gifted education provisions in school and home education.

Parents first reported whether or not their child had been accelerated at school and if accelerated if this was by one or more school grades. Ten children (25%) were accelerated by the school, while all others remained with their chronological same aged cohort (n = 30). Data were missing for two parents in this analysis. Two children identified as twice-exceptional experienced school-based acceleration (5%) compared to children with no exceptionalities (20%).

Parents (n = 38) who completed both questions about acceleration and expected grade level were included in the following analysis to understand the extent of this gifted provision in the sample. Only nine children (23.7%) in this sample had experienced acceleration at school and all were female (data for one child were missing for this analysis). Thirty-three parents (86.8%) believed their child should have been accelerated by a minimum of one year (range 1 – 5 years).

In addition, parents rated the availability or frequency of five specific teaching practices recommended by Rogers (2007). A score of three or higher was taken to indicate the child experienced the educational provision at least some of the time. As indicated in Table 4, parents perceived all five gifted provisions were available at least some of the time in home education, but none of the five had been available at least some of the time in the child's previous school setting.

Table 4

Frequency of Child Access to Gifted Provisions at School and Home

	Sch	nool	Ho	me
Practice	Μ	SD	Μ	SD
My child was challenged in their specific area of talent	1.68	0.69	3.92	0.75
My child was given opportunities to work independently in their areas of passion or talent	1.78	0.73	4.33	0.72
My child was allowed to work at a higher grade level as needed	1.6	0.67	4.83	0.38
My child had opportunities to learn and socialise with children of similar ability	2.0	0.91	3.48	0.94
My child's teacher adjusted the pace of learning and reduce the amount of practice and review for my child	1.68	0.76	4.38	0.91

4.3.2 Parents' perceptions of accommodation of child's learning needs at school.

Thirty-two (80%) parents believed school was not a good fit for their child, while five (12.5%) were unsure. Only three (7.5%) parents believed school was a good fit for their child.

Parents were also asked if their child's previous teacher had accommodated their child's needs (selecting from "Yes", "No" or "Partly") and were provided with open space to provide further comment. These responses were thematically coded. Most parents in this analysis reported that the school did not accommodate their child's needs at all (n = 20, 50%) or only partly (n = 19, 47.5%). One parent believed the teacher accommodated their child's needs (2.5%). Additional comments provided by parents did not necessarily relate to how their child's last teacher accommodated their needs. Instead, parents provided responses that were thematised according to the categories below.

(a) *Teacher capabilities in gifted education* (43 responses, 63%) which indicated a parent perceived the teacher's capabilities in gifted education influenced whether their child's needs were met. For example, "He was aware that she had been accelerated a year but showed little appreciation for why or what that might mean emotionally."

(b) The role of the school system in supporting teachers (15 responses, 22). Parent

responses indicated that the school system did not support teachers in meeting gifted needs. For example, "They did the best they could but with a class of 20 it's impossible to accommodate all the different learning needs."

(c) *The child became unmotivated to learn* (7 responses, 10%) which was always reported in accompaniment of other themes and indicated that the child's level of engagement had been affected. For example, "Unfortunately, by this stage my son was too disengaged with school and showed little interest in the projects."

(d) *Child's relationship with peers or teachers* (3 responses, 4%) which related to bullying, not relating well to others and teachers drawing attention to differences in a manner that made the child uncomfortable. For example, "He was also being bullied (teased) though he had a great best friend who he saw outside of school."

The overall most reported theme in parent perceptions of teacher accommodations of their child was the teacher's capabilities in gifted education (63% of responses). These perceptions of teacher capabilities were further analysed and reported as the following sub-themes:

(a) *The teacher made an effort but did not meet gifted learning needs* (18 responses,
41.9%). Parents reported they believed the teacher was trying to meet their child's needs.
However, the child's needs remained unmet. One parent reported, "She tried to change things for him but basically I had to continually suggest things and articulate why I thought it would change things for him. She would change things for a little bit and they would work, so then she would let them go. I had to keep reminding her!"

(b) *The teacher's ability to deliver curriculum at the required pace and challenge level* (10 responses, 23.2%). Parents reported that teachers generally did not provide sufficient adjustment to the pace of learning: "They didn't understand that she was an independent learner and wouldn't let her move ahead independent of the teachers (sic) instructions."

(c) The teacher lacked skill and knowledge about gifted and/or twice exceptional children

(7 responses, 16.3%). A number of parents reported that teachers lacked an understanding of giftedness or did not acknowledge the giftedness of their child: "The teacher did not recognise giftedness, only viewed as behavioural issues."

(d) *The teacher made an effort and met gifted learning needs* (4 responses, 9.3%). A small number of responses demonstrated parents' belief that the teacher's effort in addressing gifted needs was sufficient: "As she was in a 5/6 composite class it was easy to give her Year 6 work as extension work...she basically joined in with Year 6."

(e) A small number of responses were classified as *Other* (4 responses, 9.3%). An example includes: "... we became aware that some parents complained he was allowed to opt out of reading time and this created a lot of tension."

4.3.3 Parent perceptions of child needs being met through home education.

Parents were subsequently asked to report on how their child's needs were met in home education. This open-response question was posed in a later part of the survey to create some separation of the questions about school and home environments. Responses were coded and thematised according to similar units of meaning, as summarised in Table 5. Parents provided 100 different types of accommodations of needs met through home education.

The most frequently identified way child needs were met through home education was *child's interests were addressed* (27 responses). Responses in this theme indicated children were engaged through interest-led learning. Examples were: "She is able to work…in areas she is interested in." Parents also reported the need for pace (18 responses) and challenge (16 responses) were addressed in home education settings. For example, "She is able to work at her own pace." and "We were able to accelerate him to a level he feels challenged by, and can explore mathematical concepts without restriction."

Another identified theme was *support*. Parents reported children required support to have their needs met (12 responses): "He is better supported emotionally at home. He feels more in control of his learning and less anxious about being in a school environment."

Some responses were categorised in the theme *removal of a social or emotional trigger* (9 responses) indicating the home environment removed a negative factor present in the former school environment. For example, "Taking away [h]is propensity to be highly anxious in school, removes the triggers for meltdowns and self loathing." Another theme *access to a broader range of people, including like minds* (7 responses) indicated parent beliefs that home education addressed the child's need for like minded associates or peers. Another theme, *physical environment better suited to child's needs* (7 responses) reflected the idea that the home environment suited their child's needs better than classrooms and the *other* category (4 responses) included commentary about home education or the state of schools, without providing information about how their child's needs were met through home education: "It is not so much that these needs are being met as that these needs are not being stymied by the school system, truth be told."

Table 5

Theme	Frequency	Example
Child interests addressed	27	"She is able to workin areas she is interested in."
Curriculum delivered at the required pace	18	"She is able to work at her own pace."
Curriculum delivered at the appropriate challenge level	16	"We are able to accelerate him to a level he feels challenged by, and can explore mathematical concepts without restriction."
Support	12	"He is better supported emotionally at homeHe feels more in control of his learning and less anxious about being in a school environment."
Removal of a social or emotional trigger	9	"Taking away [h]is propensity to be highly anxious in school, removes the triggers for meltdowns and self loathing."
Access to a broader range of people, including like-minds.	7	"He is socially able to mix with children of all ages and abilities in homeschooling groups."
Physical environment is better suited to child's needs	7	"It is a one to one environment with all background noise removed."
Other	4	"It is not so much that these needs are being met as that these needs are not being stymied by the school system, truth be told."
Total	100	

Parent Perceptions of Child Needs Met Through Home Education

Note. Parents could mention more than one factor.

Additionally, parents were asked if there were any circumstance in which they would consider returning their child to school. Parents provided 54 responses, and these were thematically coded. Parents most frequently reported they would return their child to school if *the child chose to return* (17 responses, 32%), for example, "If our child wanted to attend school". Second most frequent response reported by parents was *child needs could be met at school* (13 responses, 24%), for example, "If the school provided more individualised academic and emotional support to meet the needs of each child." Additionally, parents reported they would return their child to school if *home education no longer working* (11 responses, 20%), for example, "If she became unhappy homeschooling or if I felt that we couldn't meet her needs at

home." A smaller number of responses related to *social benefits of school* (5 responses, 9%), for example, "If we felt he needed the social benefits of a school environment more profoundly than the individualised learning benefits of the home schooling environment." Some parents (5 responses, 9%) said there would be no circumstance where they would return their child to school, and three parents (6% of responses) would return their child to improved or alternative school systems, for example: "If school was run more like university, with an opt-in system where children chose learning areas..."

4.4 Parent Perceptions of Child Engagement in School and Home Education Environments

This analysis addressed research question three. Engagement scales measured parent perceptions of their child's engagement in school and home education settings and gave scores of emotional, behavioural and cognitive engagement in each environment. Scores above the midpoint of each scale total would indicate higher and positive levels of engagement.

Results of engagement measure are as follows: emotional engagement in home (M = 25.17, SD = 2.33) and school (M = 13.9, SD = 3.91), behavioural engagement in home (M = 16.19, SD = 2.18) and school (M = 15.29, SD = 4.08) and lastly cognitive engagement in home (M = 30.31, SD = 4.86) and school (M = 19.88, SD = 6.77).

Paired-samples t-tests were conducted on 40 complete cases of data to compare perceived emotional, behavioural and cognitive engagement in school and home education environments. There was a statistically significant difference in parent perceived emotional engagement between school (M = 13.90, SD = 3.91) and home education (M = 25.23, SD = 2.36), t (39) = 15.52, p < .001, two tailed, d = 3.50. For cognitive engagement there was a statistically significant difference between school (M = 19.88, SD = 6.77) and home education (M = 30.33, SD = 4.98), t (39) = 9.03, p < .001, two tailed, d = 1.76. For behavioural engagement no significant differences were detected between school (M = 15.29, SD = 4.08) and home

education environments (M = 16.10, SD = 2.12), t (40) = 1.32, p = .195, two tailed, d = 0.25.

4.4.1 Parent Responses Indicative of Engagement.

Using Fredricks et al. (2004) engagement lens, further analysis was conducted on parent qualitative responses for factors contributing to home education, and accommodation of child needs in school and home education. There were 77 responses (68%) that provided indication of disengagement factors that contributed to the decision to home educate. For example, half of all coded factor responses (57 responses, 50%) indicated emotional disengagement which included boredom, lack of interest, affective reactions to peers, teachers and the school, as well as lacking a sense of belonging to the school or classroom. An example was, "Her needs were not being met in the school system. Her confidence levels were dwindling as a result and she was not feeling that she could show her true ability as the other children were not totally accepting of 'smart' kids."

Another 20 responses (18%) indicated cognitive disengagement in the absence of challenge, acceleration or a lack of investment or willingness of the child to put in effort. An example was, "If she isn't challenged intellectually she will look for challenges socially & we didn't want her to establish bad relationships with her peers or teachers in trying to be challenged."

Analysis of child needs accommodated by their last teacher suggested that 43 responses (63%) were indicative of engagement. One response was thematised as behavioural disengagement because "The teacher did not recognise giftedness, only viewed as behavioural issues." There were 21 responses (31%) that were indicative of emotional disengagement, which included boredom, lack of interest, affective reactions to peers, teachers and the school, as well as lacking a sense of belonging to the school or classroom, for example, "He was a perfect student for them - kept his suicidal thoughts quiet, self-harmed only at home and falsely smiled and was quiet and obedient at school." A further 17 responses (25%) were categorised as cognitive disengagement, which related to a lack of challenge or acceleration. An example was,

"He was reading his sister's high school text and taking encyclopaedias to school. The principal said his hands were tied and they couldn't do anything for him especially because he was the youngest in the class. They only suggested he could teach the students who were struggling.". Only four responses (6%) could be coded positively for engagement, as opposed to disengagement, for example, "She had lovely teachers who cared about her."

Using Fredricks et al.'s (2004) engagement lens, further analysis of child needs met through home education indicated that 76% of parent responses related to child engagement. Parent's reports contained 44 responses (44%) that were indicative of emotional engagement. Examples were, "He doesn't feel he needs to be someone else any more" and "We still cover the curriculum, but we also allow him to focus on the things he enjoys most."

Parent responses (32 responses, 32%) were also indicative of cognitive engagement. These included parent responses relating to schools' ability to accelerate or challenge their children in home education, for example, "We are able to accelerate him to a level he felt challenged by, and can explore mathematical concepts without restriction – i.e., he is just beginning to learn calculus at his instigation." No parents provided responses that were indicative of behavioural engagement in the home environment.

In summary, this further analysis of parent responses viewed through Fredricks et al.'s (2004) engagement lens indicates that 57% – 68% of all responses were indicative of child *disengagement* at school. In contrast, 76% of responses were indicative of *engagement* factors in home education.

4.5 Chapter Summary

Results presented in this chapter address the three main research questions. First, what factors contributed to the decision to home educate for parents with children who are gifted or have high-ability? The most frequently reported factor was parent dissatisfaction with school. Further analysis indicated the source of dissatisfaction was frequently reported as a lack of understanding or inability of the school or teacher to meet gifted needs, the child's emotional response and a lack of availability of challenge.

The second question, what are parents' perceptions of gifted educational practices in school settings and how do parents' perceptions of school gifted education compare to parents' perceptions of gifted practices in home education? Firstly, parents most frequently reported their child's learning needs as intellectual challenge or stimulation, support, adjusted pace of learning, and autonomy. Results showed that very few children experienced the practice of acceleration in school, while all other gifted education provisions were reported at the lower end of the frequency scale, yet all provisions were perceived to be more available in home education environments. Finally, most parents believed their child's last teacher did not accommodate their child's needs. It is notable that only one parent reported their child's needs were met at school. Parents provided additional comment about needs being met at school, which suggested teacher capabilities in gifted education through the child being engaged and motivated to learn, curriculum delivered at the required pace and challenge, appropriate support and the removal of a school-based social or emotional trigger.

The third question, what are parents' perceptions of children's engagement in school and home education settings? In this exploratory measure parents reported statistically significant differences between school and home environments for their child's cognitive and emotional engagement. Cognitive and emotional engagement were reported as high in home education and

moderate in school. Behavioural engagement was not significantly different in home and school environments with high levels of behavioural engagement reported.

The lens of Fredricks et al.'s (2004) conceptualisation of cognitive, emotional and behavioural engagement was further applied to qualitative responses. This analysis demonstrated that factors reported by parents closely reflected *disengagement* factors in school. Parents also frequently mentioned *engagement* factors in home education responses, indicating that disengagement was not a concern in this environment.

5 Discussion

This research investigated the factors that led to parent decisions to home educate their children who were gifted. It focused on parent perceptions of children's engagement in school and home education, and parent perceptions of gifted educational practices in school compared to home education settings were also explored. This chapter will begin with a discussion of the demographics of the sample of parents and children.

Research evidence indicates that home educators with children who are gifted may be a distinctive parent group. In this study parent educational attainment and occupation were different to Australian national averages reported in ABS data (2012; 2013). A high percentage of parents identified their highest level of education as undergraduate or above (76%), which was considerably higher than the national average of 23% (41% in the ACT) holding undergraduate degrees or above (ABS, 2013). Similarly, Rimlinger's Australian sample of parents of children who are gifted (N = 117) had approximately 72% of parents with a bachelor degree or higher. Home educators in the USA also have higher educational attainment than the general population of parents (Princiotta & Bielick, 2006). Given the current sample is distinct from other home education groups but similar to other parents of children who are gifted, there appears to be a need to research this group as a specific sub-group of home educators if more is to be learned about home education of children who are gifted.

A further finding of demographic questions was that half (50%) of the children were identified by their parents as twice exceptional. Estimates and reports of twice exceptionality within gifted populations vary considerably: 2-5% (Nielsen, 2002), 14% (Rogers, 2011), and 28% (Rimlinger, 2016), for example. This suggests twice exceptionality is over-represented in this sample of home educated children. The sample size of twice exceptional children, however, was not sufficient to conduct meaningful analysis and draw conclusions about differences between gifted and twice exceptional groups. Nevertheless, this is a crucial area for further

research with larger samples, considering the factors influencing parent decisions to home educate their child frequently related to concerns about educational provisions and dissatisfaction with accommodation of their child's needs, which is discussed later in this chapter. It is possible that children who are twice exceptional are more likely to be represented in home education due to these heightened accommodation needs.

5.1 Factors Influencing Parent Choice to Home Educate: An Issue of Gifted Needs

This research provides substantial evidence that supports previous findings from Jolly et al. (2013) and Rimlinger (2016) that parents of children who are gifted often make the choice to home educate due to a dissatisfaction with school. Close scrutiny of parent responses in the current study revealed reasons for dissatisfaction largely related to their child's engagement, specifically their child's emotional responses and a lack of availability of challenge. Parents also frequently reported specific gifted issues such as a lack of understanding or inability of the school or teacher to meet gifted needs. Similarly, parents in Jolly et al.'s (2013) and Rimlinger's (2016) studies perceived their children who were gifted did not have their academic and social needs met while at school.

While parents in this study predominantly reported a dissatisfaction with school, 24% of responses indicated their decision to home educate related to parent factors (e.g., parental stress or parent relationship with the teacher), positive perceptions of home education, and philosophical or religious reasons. There is evidence that religious reasons (e.g., Aurini & Davis, 2005; Isenberg, 2007) and philosophical beliefs (e.g., Isenberg, 2007; Spiegler, 2010) are known factors in the decision to home educate. However, there is only limited mention of parental factors such as stress (e.g., Kendall & Taylor, 2016) or parental relationships with teachers, and these have not been closely scrutinised. It is also possible that a source of this parent stress relates to their dissatisfaction with school and concern about their child.

The high prevalence of twice exceptionality in this sample makes it difficult to

distinguish factors that are due to giftedness alone from factors due to twice exceptionality. The extent of parent dissatisfaction with schools' lack of understanding or inability to meet gifted needs, lack of challenge and lack of accommodation of their child's emotional needs may reflect the proportion of children with twice exceptionality in this sample. This would parallel other studies that found that parents had high levels of dissatisfaction with school because of the school's inability to meet children's special needs (Kendall & Taylor, 2016; McDonald & Lopes, 2014; Parson & Lewis, 2010).

The aspects of parent dissatisfaction identified in this study are important findings given that schools and teachers are described as necessary catalysts to achievement in Gagné's (2008) DMGT, the model guiding gifted education policy in most Australian schools. Gagné named some of these catalysts as individual (peers, teachers and mentors) and provisions (curriculum, pacing, grouping and acceleration) (Gagné, 2008); parents in this study have reported these as inadequate in the delivery of gifted education in schools.

5.2 Parent Perception of Lack of Provision in Schools

Although there is general support for the use of evidence-based gifted provisions in State and Territory gifted education policies (ACT Education Directorate, 2014; NSW Department of Education & Training, 2004), it appears for this sample of families there was insufficient access to such provisions in schools. Parents most frequently identified their child's learning needs as a requirement for intellectual challenge or stimulation, adjusted pace of learning, autonomous learning, and emotional support. These needs are consistent with the learning needs of children who are gifted as identified in the literature (e.g., Clark, 2013; Rogers, 2007; Vialle & Rogers, 2009). This finding indicates that parents in this study were acutely aware of their children's learning needs.

Parent perceptions that none of the recommended gifted provisions were available at a satisfactory level add support to the existing body of evidence that some gifted provisions, especially acceleration, are under-utilised in Australian schools (Gross et al., 2011; Jarvis &

Henderson, 2015). Parents perceived their child's access to acceleration in schools as limited, with 87% reporting their child should have been accelerated at least one year whereas only 25% of their children were accelerated by their school. A high prevalence of twice exceptionality in this sample may partially explain these findings since children with twice exceptionality are less likely to be accelerated because giftedness may not be recognised in this population (Foley Nicpon, Allmon, Sieck, & Stinson, 2011). In summary, perceived lack of access to gifted provisions clearly influenced parents' decision to home educate.

Closely related to parent concern about gifted provision was a concern for the child's support needs. Some parents viewed the child's need for emotional support as greater than their need for learning support, as stated by one parent: "Learning needs are few, emotional support required is greater than average." The need for both learning and emotional support may have been frequently nominated in this study due to the high prevalence of twice exceptional children and their need for both learning challenge and support. Although Jolly et al. (2013) reported inadequate support networks of gifted families who home educate, the current study appears to be the first to link the decision to home educate with the level of support given in school to children who are gifted.

Given parents' perceptions of lack of gifted provisions and emotional support in schools, it is unsurprising that almost all parents reported a poor fit between school and their child. Like parents in Jolly et al.'s (2013) study, many worked with the schools for substantial periods of time, trying to create a good fit for their child before deciding to home educate. There is a need for schools to develop effective home-school partnerships that allow sharing of child information to improve schooling for children who are gifted. Viewing home education as a last resort was also found in studies of home education and special needs such as those by McDonald and Lopes (2014) and Morton (2010). The current study provides further evidence there is a parent desire for a good fit between the school and their child, and it is the loss or lack of this fit that leads to the decision to home educate.

5.3 Parent Perceptions of Child Engagement in School

This study advances the research area of parent perceptions of child engagement, of which there is very limited understanding (Hancock & Zubrick, 2015). This largely underresearched area is important because it may provide crucial empirical data to guide development of effective home-school partnerships and thus positive learning outcomes for children.

Most parents in this study clearly perceived that their children experienced some level of disengagement from school, which was frequently linked to the lack of availability of provisions in school and limited teacher capabilities in gifted education. When teachers lack the ability or understanding to meet the needs of these children, as reported by parents, it would be difficult for classroom conditions and interactions between teacher and child to be sufficient for high levels of engagement.

According to Fredrick's (2004) engagement model and Gagné's (2008) model of giftedness and talent, engagement and achievement are hindered when a teacher or school lacks understanding or has an inability to meet the needs of these children, or if the child has poor relationships with teachers or peers, or there is a lack of available challenge. It is not surprising that a large number of parent responses related to factors indicative of emotional engagement (e.g., child's emotional response) and cognitive engagement (e.g., lack of availability of challenge) as well as barriers to child engagement (e.g., the infrequent use of gifted provisions). Some theorists would argue that when these crucial elements are lacking, these children are atrisk of disengagement and potential school dropout (Landis & Reschly, 2013). Qualitative parent responses in this study indicated parents' concern about their children's well-being and levels of engagement in school, thus, the decision to home educate has potentially alleviated further risk of disengagement, potential school dropout and the risk of longer lasting negative life outcomes (Landis & Reschly, 2013).

The multifaceted engagement construct as described by Fredricks et al. (2004) allows the relationship between schooling and behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement to be

better understood, which provides the potential to guide more appropriate interventions and strategies to improve school experiences for children who are gifted. In summary, the unique application of the engagement and gifted education lenses in this study provided additional insight into parent beliefs about the contribution of their child's schooling experiences to eventual disengagement from school and the decision to home educate.

5.4 Meeting Child Needs in Home Education

Parent responses in this study provide substantial support of the findings of Jolly et al. (2013). Parents in both studies reported they were able to provide curriculum that accommodated their child's interests and need for challenge, which was perceived by both samples to be lacking in schools. Harding (2011) indicated that home education environments allow flexibility, smaller numbers of children to cater to, and closer relationships where there is an in-depth understanding of child needs. Thus, it is not surprising that parents in this sample reported being able to adapt gifted education provisions to meet their child's needs.

Parents in this study also reported high levels of behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement in home education, which supports the findings of Bell et al. (2016) that engagement levels are high in home education. Bell et al. (2016) concluded high levels of parentperceived academic engagement were due to positive relationships in the home rather than the home education environment itself. In the current study, parent reports of offering access to gifted provisions may also be associated with high levels of engagement. For example, one parent's report that "he doesn't feel the need to be someone else anymore." suggests emotional engagement was high, while another report, "We are able to accelerate him to a level he felt challenged by.", is indicative of high cognitive engagement. As such, parent responses in this study indicated child engagement in home education settings was high due to positive child emotional responses and the use of gifted provisions.

Although parents reported home education allowed their children's needs to be met,

nearly 90% of parents indicated they would send their child back to school if particular conditions were met. These conditions largely related to emotional engagement (e.g., the child wanted to go to school), and cognitive engagement (e.g., the school could meet the child's needs through the use of gifted provisions) or the child's becoming disengaged in home education. While it is evident parents felt able to meet their children's learning needs in home education through greater access to gifted provisions, they were not fundamentally opposed to the idea of school. These parents were concerned for their children's wellbeing. Most parents indicated that if schools addressed gifted engagement factors, their children would return to school.

5.5 Limitations

This study faced many of the same limitations as other studies of home education. Since participants self-selected to participate, there was a possibility of a sampling bias, with an element of reporting only the voices that wanted to be heard. The number of home educators in Australia is also unknown, so there is no way of knowing whether the sample collected is representative of the general gifted home education population.

Initially this study was limited to residents of NSW and the ACT for pragmatic reasons and the time restrictions of this research. The sample was further restricted by the conceptual interest in families whose children had experienced both school and home education, yet this focus has been important to gain insight into families' perceptions of the two settings.

An exploratory aspect of this study was the use of the Fredricks et al. (2003) engagement scale as a measure of parent-perceived engagement in school and home education settings. Although never used previously for this purpose, the scale was chosen because of high reliability in previous studies and conceptual identification of cognitive, emotional and behavioural forms of engagement. In the present study emotional and cognitive engagement scales were deemed reliable measures while the behavioural engagement scale did not achieve a sufficient reliability rating. It is also important to be mindful that this was a measure of the parent's perception of, and not a child's actual level of, engagement. Longitudinal research is needed to understand parent perceptions of engagement beyond this point in time.

The finding of no significant differences between parent perceptions of school and home behavioural engagement may be attributed to the instrument's poor reliability. Alternatively, it may reflect that parents could not directly observe behavioural engagement in schools and make valid judgements about this or comparisons to home education. It is also possible that children talk to their parents more about emotional engagement (e.g., being happy, bored, excited, interested in things at school, Fredricks et al., 2003) than behavioural engagement (e.g., how much they pay attention in class and if they act as if they are working, Fredricks et al., 2003). A final possibility is that behavioural engagement *was* the same in both environments and children were considered highly engaged in both environments.

Notwithstanding these limitations, this scale provided an important insight into an additional factor that appeared to influence parent decisions to withdraw their child from formal schooling. The application of the engagement lens to analyse qualitative data was a particular innovation in this study because it provided additional insight about parent beliefs of their child's schooling experiences and their decision to home educate their child. Future investigation of parent perceptions of the child's engagement in school or in other educational settings may need to consider the reliability of this scale and further research is needed to explore the construct of engagement in home and school settings.

5.6 Implications and Directions for Future Research

This study provided a rare insight into factors leading to home education for children who were gifted. This is also the first known study of this kind in the Australian context. Parent perceptions in this research add to evidence of the importance of school and teacher use of gifted provisions and of meeting the needs of children who are gifted. This study also provided evidence that parents perceived a strong link between the use of gifted provisions and child engagement. These results suggest a need for schools to treat gifted provisions and teacher capability in gifted education as important variables in achieving high levels of engagement for children who are gifted. High levels of child engagement will have positive benefits for individuals and schools in terms of higher academic achievement. Gifted engagement is a young research field and its advancement is important to understanding the engagement, wellbeing and achievement of children who are gifted. There is a need for further research to explore how the three types of engagement relate to the use of gifted provisions and other variables such as teacher capability in gifted education.

The high prevalence of twice exceptionality in this study suggests that such children may be particularly vulnerable to school factors. There is a critical need for identification of twice exceptionality in schools and an equally pressing need to find ways to support this group so that needs can be met in school. There are known concerns with the identification of twice exceptionality (Foley Nicpon et al., 2011) and there is a growing body of research in how to meet the needs of these children (Wormald, Vialle, & Rogers, 2014). However, further research with a larger and more representative sample is needed to understand the specific link between gifted provisions and child engagement for children who are twice exceptional.

These parents had important insight into their child's giftedness and their children would benefit from schools viewing parents as having important contributions to make to the education of their children. The gifted learning needs that parents in this sample nominated align with those identified in the literature. Additionally, these parents reported they were using evidence-based gifted provisions to meet their children's needs through home education. It appears that greater sharing of information about children who are gifted would improve their education in schools. Without effective home-school partnerships and improvements in the delivery of gifted education, more children will effectively be 'pushed' out of the school system as parents make the decision to home educate. More research is needed that focuses on parent and school relationships within gifted education and parent involvement frameworks. There is currently a

64

strong focus on parent involvement in government education documents (e.g., Australian Government Department of Education and Training, 2017; ARACY, 2015; Fox & Olsen, 2014) as a means to involve parents in the school community. Yet parents in this research chose to disengage from school education for their children. Given these parents are highly educated, many with professional backgrounds in education, there is a need to further examine how schools can foster better relationships with gifted families and particularly if these families consider or choose to leave formal education. Parents did appear willing to send their children back to formal schooling in the future, thus, it would seem pragmatic and also positive if school systems and home educating parents could work together closely to examine best practices and support the child who is gifted. This is likely to be the case for the child with twice exceptionality in particular.

5.7 Conclusion

This study was the first known study to explore the factors influencing the choice to home educate children who are gifted in Australia. As one of few empirical studies of home education internationally, this study supports the findings of Jolly et al. (2013) and adds empirical understanding about a relatively unknown group of home educators. These home educators of children who are gifted may be a distinct group with parent educational attainment and professional occupations disproportionately higher than Australian national averages in the current study. This population of home educated children may also be characterised by a high prevalence of twice exceptionality. The primary reason identified for the decision to home educate their child was dissatisfaction with formal schooling. More specifically, factors reflecting the child's engagement and educational provisions for the gifted largely accounted for the parent decision to home educate their child. While the findings from this study present parent perceptions and not child perspectives, parents ultimately make the decision about where their child will be educated. As such, further research is needed to understand these parent

perspectives and explore ways, to support *both* parents and children who are gifted in school and home environments.

- Appleton, J., & Christenson, S. L. (2004). *Scale description and references for the student engagement instrument*. Unpublished manuscript.
- Appleton, J. J., Christenson, S. L., & Furlong, M. J. (2008). Student engagement with school: Critical conceptual and methodological issues of the construct. *Psychology in the Schools, 45*, 369–386. doi:10.1002/pits.20303
- Appleton, J. J., Christenson, S. L., Kim, D., & Reschly, A. L. (2006). Measuring cognitive and psychological engagement: Validation of the Student Engagement Instrument. *Journal of School Psychology*, 44, 427–445. doi:10.1016/j.jsp.2006.04.002
- Arai, B. (2000) Changing motives for homeschooling in Canada. Canadian Journal of Education, 25, 204–217. doi:https://cje-rce.ca/#

Arora, T. C. (2006). Elective home education and special educational needs. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 6(1), 55–66. doi:10.1111/J.1471-3802.2006.00059.x

- Aurini, J., & Davies, S. (2005). Choice without markets: Homeschooling in the context of private education. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 26, 461–474. doi:10.1080/01425690500199834
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). (2013). 1220.0 ANZSCO -- Australian and New Zealand Standard Classification of Occupations, 2013, Version 1.2. Retrieved from www.abs.gov.au/ausstatsats@.nsf/mf/6227.0

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). (2012). 3235.0 - Population by Age and Sex, Regions of Australia, 2012. Retrieved from <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/</u> abs@.nsf/Products/<u>3235.0~2012~Main+Features~Main+Features?OpenDocument#PAR</u> <u>ALINK1</u>

Australian Capital Territory (ACT) Education Directorate (2016). *Canberra school census February 2016*. Retrieved from URL <u>http://www.education.act.gov.au/___data/assets/</u> pdf_ file/ 0011/829172/February-2016-Census-Publication-Additional-Tables-Final.pdf

- Australian Capital Territory (ACT) Education Directorate (2014). *Gifted and talented students policy*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.education.act.gov.au/__data/assets/</u> <u>pdf_file/0019/554203/Gifted-and-Talented-Student-Policy-2014b.pdf</u>
- Australian Capital Territory (ACT) Education Directorate (2013). *Registration of home education in the ACT manual*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.det.act.gov.au/___data</u> /assets/ pdf_file/ 0010/19369/RegistrationofHomeEducationintheACT.pdf
- Australian Capital Territory Parliamentary Counsel (2004). *Education Act 2004*. Republication No 23 Effective: 14 October 2015. Retrieved from <u>www.legislation.act.gov.au/a/2004-</u> <u>17/current/pdf/2004-17.pdf</u>
- Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority. (n.d.). *Gifted and talented students*. Retrieved from <u>www.australiancurriculum.edu.au/studentdiversity/gifted-and-</u> <u>talented-students</u>
- Australian Government Department of Education and Training (2017). Family-school partnerships. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.education.gov.au/family-school-partnerships</u>
- Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership (AITSL). (2011). Australian professional standards for teachers. Retrieved <u>from https://www.aitsl.edu.au/docs/default-source/general/australian-professional-standands-for-teachers-20171006.pdf?sfvrsn</u> =399ae83c_12
- Australian Research Alliance for Children and Youth (ARACY). (2015). *Progressing parental engagement in the ACT. Our evidence base. Measuring Parental Engagement.* Canberra, ACT.
- Bell, D., Kaplan, A., & S. Thurman, A. (2016). Types of homeschool environments and need support for children's achievement motivation. *Journal of School Choice*, *10*, 330–354. doi:10.1080/15582159.2016.1202072

Bennett-Rappell, H., & Northcote, M. (2016). Underachieving gifted students: Two case studies.

Issues in Educational Research, 26, 407-430. doi:http://www.iier.org.au/iier.html

- Bielick, S., Chandler, K., & Broughman, S. P. (2001). *Homeschooling in the United States:* 1999. Retrieved from <u>https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2001/2001033.pdfe</u>
- Board of Studies, Teaching and Education Standards (BOSTES) (2016). *Annual report 2015-16*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.boardofstudies.nsw.edu.au/about/pdf_doc/bostes-annual-</u> <u>report-2015-16.pdf</u>
- Board of Studies, Teaching and Education Standards (BOSTES) (2013). *Registration for home schooling in NSW – information package*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.boardofstudies</u>. <u>nsw.edu.au/parents/pdf_doc/home-edu-infopack-13.pdf</u>.
- Buckingham, J., & Jha, T. (2015). One school does not fit all. *Policy: A Journal of Public Policy and Ideas*, 31(4), 54. Retrieved from http://www.cis.org.au/publications/research-reports/one-school-does-not-fit-all/
- Butler, M. H., Harper, J. M., Call, M. L., & Bird, M. H. (2015). Examining claims of family process differences ensuing from the choice to home-school. *Education and Urban Society*, 47(1), 86–108. doi:10.1177/001312451349477
- Campbell, J. L., Quincy, C., Osserman, J., & Pedersen, O. K. (2013). Coding in-depth semistructured interviews: Problems of unitization and intercoder reliability and agreement. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 42, 294–320. doi:10.1177/0049124113500475
- Carper, J. C. (2000). Pluralism to establishment to dissent: The religious and educational context of home schooling. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 75(1-2), 8–19. doi:10.1080/0161956X.2000.9681932
- Castellano, J. A., & Matthews, M. S. (2014). Legal issues in gifted education. In J. P.
 Bakken , F. E. Obiakor , & A. F. Rotatori (Eds.), *Advances in Special Education: Volume 26. Gifted education: Current perspectives and issues* (pp. 1–19). Emerald Group.

Chapman, C., Laird, J., Ifill, N., & KewalRamani, A. (2011). *Trends in high school dropout* and completion rates in the United States: 1972-2009 (Compendium Report. NCES 2012-006). National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED524955.pdf

Clark, B. (2013). Growing up gifted (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

- Colangelo, N., Assouline, S., & Gross, M. U. M. (2004). A nation deceived: how schools hold back America's brightest students (Vol. 2). Iowa City, IA: The Connie Belin and Jacqueline N. Blank International Center for Gifted Education and Talent Development.
- Connell, J. P. (1990). Context, self, and action: A motivational analysis of self-system processes across the life-span. In D. Cicchetti (Ed.), *The self in transition: Infancy to childhood* (pp. 61–97). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Corno, L., & Mandinach, E. (1983). The role of cognitive engagement in classroom learning and motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 18, 88–108. doi:http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/hedp20
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., Klassen, A. C., Plano Clark, V. L., & Smith, K. C. (2011). *Best practices for mixed methods research in the health sciences*. Bethesda (MD): National Institutes of Health.
- Croft, K. (2013). So you're a teacher, and you home educate? Why would you, and how does that work for you? Exploring motivations for, and implementation of, home education by qualified teachers in Australia. (Masters Dissertation). Retrieved from: <u>http://research.avondale.edu.au/ theses_masters_coursework/15</u>
- Crupi Jr, S. (2012). *Gifted students' engagement in A middle school research and critical hinking course* (Master's thesis). Retrieved from tars.library.ucf.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3114&context=etd

- Davis, G., Rimm, S., & Siegle, D. (2011). *Education of the gifted and talented* (6th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education Inc.
- Eccles, J., & Wang, M. T. (2012). Part I commentary: So what is student engagement anyway? In S. L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie. (Eds.). *Handbook of research* on student engagement (pp. 133–145). Springer US.
- Eddles-Hirsch, K., Vialle, W., Rogers, K. B., & McCormick, J. (2010). "Just challenge those high-ability learners and they'll be all right!": The impact of social context and challenging instruction on the affective development of high-ability students. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 22(1), 106–128. doi: <u>http://journals.sagepub.com/home/joa</u>
- English, R. M. (2015a). Too cool for homeschool? Accessing underground unschoolers with
 Web 2.0. In K. Trimmer, A. Black, & S. Riddle (Eds.), *Mainstreams, margins and the spaces in-between: New possibilities for education research* (pp. 112–124). New York:
 Taylor and Francis (Routledge).
- English, R. (2015b). Use your freedom of choice: Reasons for choosing homeschool in Australia. *Journal of Unschooling and Alternative Learning*, *9*(17). Retrieved from https://eprints.qut.edu.au/73439/
- Filsecker, M., & Kerres, M. (2014). Engagement as a volitional construct: A framework for evidence-based research on educational games. *Simulation & Gaming*, 45, 450–470. doi:10.1177/1046878114553569
- Finn, J. D. (1993). School engagement and students at risk. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Finn, J. D. (1989). Withdrawing from school. *Review of Educational Research*, *59*, 117–142. doi: 10.3102/00346543059002117
- Finn, J. D., & Zimmer, K. S. (2012). Student engagement: What is it? Why does it matter? In S.
 L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie. (Eds.). *Handbook of research on student engagement* (pp. 97–131). Springer US.

- Foley Nicpon, M., Assouline, S., & Colangelo, N. (2013). Twice exceptional learners: Who needs to know what. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 57, 169–180. doi:10.1177/00169862134 90021
- Forster, J. (2010). A school's success in providing challenge and engagement for gifted students in the middle school years. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 19(1), 24–42.
- Fox, S., & Olsen, A (2014). Education capital: Our evidence base. Defining parental engagement. Canberra: Australian Research Alliance for Children & Youth (ARACY). & Australian Capital Territory Government.
- Fraser-Seeto, K. T., Howard, S. J., & Woodcock, S. (2016). Preparation for teaching gifted students: An updated investigation into university offerings in New South Wales. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 25(1), 58–65. doi:http://www.aaegt .net.au/?page_id=736
- Fraser-Seeto, K. T., Howard, S. J., & Woodcock, S. (2015). An investigation of teachers' awareness and willingness to engage with a self-directed professional development package on gifted and talented education. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 40(1). doi:http://ro.ecu.edu.au/ajte/
- Fredricks, J. A. (2014). The eight myths of student disengagement: Creating classrooms of deep learning. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1), 59–109. doi:10.3102/00346543074001059
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2003, March). School engagement. Paper presented at the Indicators of Positive Development Conference, Child Trends, Washington, DC.
- Fredricks, J. A., Filsecker, M., & Lawson, M. A. (2016). Student engagement, context, and adjustment: Addressing definitional, measurement, and methodological issues. *Learning*

and Instruction, 43, 1-4. doi:10.1177/0143034317708010

- Fredricks, J., McColskey, W., Meli, J., Mordica, J., Montrosse, B., & Mooney, K. (2011). *Measuring student engagement in upper elementary through high school: A description of 21 instruments*. (Issues & Answers Report, REL 2011–No. 098). Washington, DC:
 U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory Southeast. Retrieved from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/projects/ project.asp?
 ProjectID=268.
- Freeman, J. (2010). *Gifted lives: What happens when gifted children grow up*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gagné, F. (2004). Transforming gifts into talents: the DMGT as a developmental theory. *High Ability Studies*, *15*, 119–147. doi:10.1080/1359813042000314682
- Gagné, F. (2008, July). *Building gifts into talents: Overview of the DMGT*. Paper presented at the Asia-Pacific Federation of the World Council for Gifted and Talented Children, Singapore.
- Gavin, M. K., & Adelson, J. L. (2014). Mathematics gifted education. In J. A. Plucker & C. M.
 Callahan (Eds.), *Critical issues and practices in gifted education: What the research says* (2nd ed., 387–411). Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.
- Green, C. L., & Hoover-Dempsey, K. V. (2007). Why do parents homeschool? A systematic examination of parental involvement. *Education and Urban Society*, *39*, 264–285. doi:10.1177/0013124506294862

Gross, M., Urquhart, R., Doyle, J., Juratowitch, M., & Matheson, G. (2011). Releasing the brakes for high-ability learners. Sydney, Australia. Retrieved from https://www.google.com.au/search?q=Releasing+the++brakes+for+highability+learners.&ie=utf-8&oe=utf-8&client=firefox-b&gfe_rd=cr&dcr=0&ei=pAaWuXnCs_N8ge16a_IDA

- Gross, M. U. M., & Van Vliet, H. E. (2005). Radical acceleration and early entry to college: A review of the research. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 49, 154–171. doi:10.1177/0016986205 04900205
- Guterman, O., & Neuman, A. (2017). Different reasons for one significant choice: Factors influencing homeschooling choice in Israel. International Review of Education, 63, 303 318. doi:10.1007/s11159-017-9637-2
- Hancock, K. J., & Zubrick, S. R. (2015). Children and *young people at risk of disengagement from school*. Telethon Kids Institute University of Western Australia.
- Hansen, J. B., & Toso, S. J. (2007). Gifted dropouts: Personality, family, social, and school factors. *Gifted Child Today*, *30*(4), 30–41. doi:10.4219/gct-2007-488
- Harding, T. J. A. (2011) A study of parents' conceptions of their roles as home educators of their children (Doctoral thesis). Retrieved from https://eprints.qut.edu.au/40931/1/Terrence_Harding_Thesis.pdf
- Harding, T. & Farrell, A. (2003). Home schooling and legislated education. *The Journal* of the Australian and New Zealand Educational Law Association, 8, No. 1-2, 125–133.
- Hattie, J. (2009). Visible learning: a synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to achievement. London, UK: Routledge.
- Hébert, T. P. (2001). "If I had a new notebook, I know things would change": Bright underachieving young men in urban classrooms. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 45, 174–194. doi: 10.1177/001698620104500303
- Home Education Australia (2013). *Information on home education in Australia*. Retrieved from http://www.hea.edu.au/homeschooling-get-started!/faqs/#15
- Housand, A. (2016). In context: Gifted characteristics and the implications for curriculum. In
 K. R. Stephens., & F. A. Karnes. (Eds.)., *Curriculum design in gifted education* (pp. 3–22). USA: Prufrock Press.

Isenberg, E. J. (2007). What have we learned about homeschooling? Peabody Journal of

Education, 82, 387-409. doi:10.1080/01619560701312996

- Jackson, G. (2009). 'More than one way to learn': Home educated students' transitions between home and school (Doctoral thesis). Retrieved from <u>http://arrow.monash.edu.au/</u> hdl/1959.1/83110
- Jackson, G., & Allan, S. (2010). Fundamental elements in examining a child's right to
 Education: A study of home education research and regulation in Australia. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 2, 349–364.
 doi: https://www.iejee.com/index.php/IEJEE/index
- Jarvis, J. M., & Henderson, L. (2015). Current practices in the education of gifted and advanced learners in South Australian schools. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 21(1), 5–22. doi:http://www.aaegt.net.au/?page_id=736
- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2012). *Educational research: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Jolly, J. L. (2014). Building gifted education: One state at a time. *Gifted Child Today*, *37*, 258–260. doi:10.1177/1076217514544031
- Jolly, J. L., & Matthews, M. S. (2017). Why we blog: Homeschooling mothers of children who are gifted. *Roeper Review*, *39*, 112–120, doi:10.1080/02783193.2017.1289579
- Jolly, J. L., Matthews, M. S., & Nester, J. (2013). Homeschooling the gifted: A parent's perspective. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *57*, 121–134. doi:10.1177/0016986212469999
- Kanevsky, L., & Keighley, T. (2003). To produce or not to produce? Understanding boredom and the honor in underachievement. *Roeper Review*, 26, 20–28. doi:10.1080/02783190309554235
- Kaufman, S. B., & Sternberg, R. J. (2008). Conceptions of giftedness. In: S. I. Pfeiffer (Ed.),
 Handbook of giftedness in children (pp.71–91). Boston, MA: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-74401-8_5

Kendall, L., & Taylor, E. (2016). 'We can't make him fit into the system': Parental reflections

on the reasons why home education is the only option for their child who has special educational needs. *Education 3-13, 44, 297–310.* doi:10.1080/03004279.2014.974647

- Killeen, M. F. (2000). *Curricular and instructional landscapes in home schools for gifted learners* (Unpublished doctoral thesis). Utah State University, Logan.
- Koshy, V., & Robinson, N. M. (2006). Too long neglected: Gifted young children. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 14, 113–126.
 doi:10.1080/13502930285209951
- Kronborg, L., & Plunkett, M. (2015). Providing an optimal school context for talent development: An extended curriculum program in practice. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 24(2), 61–69. doi:http://www.aaegt.net.au/?page_id=736
- Kunzman, R., & Gaither, M. (2013). Homeschooling: A comprehensive survey of the research. *Other Education: The Journal of Educational Alternatives*, 2(1): 4–59. doi:http://www.othereducation.org/index.php/OE
- Landis, R. N., & Reschly, A. L. (2013). Reexamining gifted underachievement and dropout through the lens of student engagement. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *36*, 220– 249. doi:10.1177/0162353213480864
- Lindsay, K. (2003). The law of home schooling in Australia. *Brigham Young University Education & Law Journal*, 2003, 83–93. doi <u>http://www.law2.byu.edu/jel/</u>
- Linnenbrink, E. A., & Pintrich, P. R. (2003). The role of self-efficacy beliefs in student engagement and learning in the classroom. *Reading & Writing Quarterly: Overcoming Learning Difficulties*, 19, 119–137. doi:10.1080/10573560308223
- Linnenbrink-Garcia, L., Rogat, T. K., & Koskey, K. L. (2011). Affect and engagement during small group instruction. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36(1), 13–24. doi:10.1016/j.cedpsych.2010.09.001
- Lubienski, C., Puckett, T., & Brewer, T. (2013). Does homeschooling "work"? A critique of the empirical claims and agenda of advocacy organizations. *Peabody Journal of*

Education, 88, 378-392. doi:10.1080/0161956X.2013.798516

- Marks, H. M. (2000). Student engagement in instructional activity: Patterns in the elementary, middle, and high school years. *American Educational Research Journal*, 37, 153–184. doi:<u>10.3102/00028312037001153</u>
- Marsh, H. (2016). Cross-cultural generalizability of year in school effects: Negative effects of acceleration and positive effects of retention on academic self-concept. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *108*, 256–273. doi:10.1037/edu0000059
- Mazama, A., & Lundy, G. (2013). African American homeschooling and the quest for a quality education. *Education and Urban Society*, 47, 160–181. doi.org/10.1177/00131245134 95273
- McClarty, K. L. (2015). Life in the fast lane: Effects of early grade acceleration on high school and college outcomes. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 59, 3–13. doi:10.1177/0016986214559595
- McCoach, D. B., & Siegle, D. (2003). Factors that differentiate underachieving gifted students from high-achieving gifted students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 47, 144–154. doi:10.1177/001698620304700205
- McCormick, K. M., & Plucker, J. A. (2013). Connecting student engagement to the academic and social needs of gifted and talented students. In K. H. Kim, J. C. Kaufman, J. Baer, & B. Sriraman (Eds.), *Creatively gifted students are not like other students who are gifted* (pp. 121–135): New York: Springer.
- McDonald, J., & Lopes, E. (2014). How parents home educate their children with an autism spectrum disorder with the support of the Schools of Isolated and Distance Education.
 International Journal of Inclusive Education, 18(1), 1–17. doi:10.1080/13603116.2012.
 <u>751634</u>
- McFall, K. J. (2016). *Trends in homeschool education: How the face of homeschooling is changing* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from <u>https://search-proquest-</u>

com.simsrad.net.ocs.mq.edu.au/docview/1780578452/

- Merrotsy, P. (2017). Gagné's Differentiated Model of Giftedness and Talent in Australian education. Australasian Journal of Gifted Education, 26(2), 29–42. doi:http://www.aaegt.net.au/?page_id=736
- Morisano, D., & Shore, B. M. (2010). Can personal goal setting tap the potential of the gifted underachiever? *Roeper Review*, *32*, 249–258. <u>doi:10.1080/02783193.2010.508156</u>
- Morton, R. (2010). Home-education: Constructions of choice. *International Electronic Journal* of Elementary Education, 3(1), 45–56. doi:https://www.iejee.com/index.php/IEJEE/index
- Neihart, M. (2007). The socioaffective impact of acceleration and ability grouping. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *5*, 330–341. doi:10.1177/0016986207306319
- Newmann, F., Wehlage, G. G., & Lamborn, S. D. (1992). The significance and sources of student engagement. In F. Newmann (Ed.), *Student engagement and achievement in American secondary schools* (pp. 11–39). New York: Teachers College Press.
- New South Wales Board of Studies. (2004). *Home education study report of findings*. Sydney: Office of the Board of Studies NSW. Retrieved from https://catalogue.nla.gov.au/ Record/3357725
- New South Wales Department of Education (2004). *Policy and implementation strategies for the education of gifted and talented students*. Sydney: Curriculum K-12 Directorate, NSW Department of Education. Retrieved from https://education.nsw.gov.au/policylibrary/associated-documents/polimp.pdf
- New South Wales Parliamentary Counsel (1990). *Government of NSW, Education Act 1990*. Republication No 8. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/</u> <u>viewtop/inforce/act+8+1990+cd+0+ N.</u>
- Nielsen, M. E. (2002). Gifted students with learning disabilities: Recommendations for identification and programming. *Exceptionality*, 10, 93–111. doi:10.1207/S1532 7035EX1002_4

Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS survival manual. Sydney: McGraw-Hill Education.

- Parsons, S., & Lewis, A. (2010). The home-education of children with special needs or disabilities in the UK: Views of parents from an online survey. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14(1), 67–86. doi:10.1080/13603110802504135
- Princiotta, D., & Bielick, S. (2006). *Homeschooling in the United States: 2003* (Statistical Analysis Report NCES 2006-042). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from <u>https://nces.ed.gov/</u> <u>pubs2006/2006042.pdf</u>
- Reilly, L. (2007). Progressive modification: How parents deal with home schooling their children with intellectual disabilities (Unpublished doctoral thesis). University of Western Australia, Perth.
- Reis, S. (2014). Reading and talented readers. In J. A. Plucker & C. M. Callahan (Eds.), *Critical issues and practices in gifted education: What the research says* (2nd ed., pp. 519–532).
 Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.
- Reis, S. M., Baum, S. M., & Burke, E. (2014). An operational definition of twice-exceptional learners: Implications and applications. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 58, 217–230. doi:10.1177/0016986214534976
- Reis, S. M., & McCoach, D. B. (2000). The underachievement of students who are gifted: What do we know and where do we go? *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 44, 152–170. doi:10.1177/001698620004400302

Reis, S. M., & Park, S. (2001). Gender differences in high-achieving students in math and science. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 25, 52–73. doi:10.1177/016235320102500104

Renzulli, J. S., & Park, S. (2000). Gifted dropouts: The who and the why. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 44, 261–271. doi:10.1177/001698620004400407

Reschly, A., & Christenson, S. L. (2006a). Promoting successful school completion. In G.

Bear & K. Minke (Eds.), *Children's needs – III: Development, prevention, and intervention* (pp. 103–113). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.

- Reschly, A., & Christenson, S. L. (2006b). Research leading to a predictive model of dropout and completion amongst students with mild disabilities and the role of student engagement. Remedial and Special Education, 27, 276–292.
 doi:10.1177/07419325060270050301
- Reschly, A. L., & Christenson, S. L. (2012). Jingle, jangle, and conceptual haziness:
 Evolution and future directions of the engagement construct. In S. L. Christenson, A. L.
 Reschly, & C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of research on student engagement* (pp. 3–19).
 New York: Springer.
- Rimlinger, N. A. (2016). Dwelling on the right side of the curve: An exploration of the psychological wellbeing of parents of gifted children (Doctoral thesis). Retrieved from <u>https://openresearch-repository.anu.edu.au/ handle/1885/110543</u>
- Ritchotte, J. A., & Graefe, A. K., (2017). An alternate path: The experience of high-potential individuals who left school. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 61, 275–289. doi:10.1177/0016986217722615
- Rogers, K. B. (2007). Lessons learned about educating the gifted and talented: A synthesis of the research on educational practice. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *51*, 382–396. doi:10.1177/0016986207306324
- Rogers, K. B. (2010a). Academic acceleration and giftedness: The research from 1990 to
 2008, A best-evidence synthesis. In N. Colangelo, S. Assouline, D. Lohman, and M. A.
 Marron (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 2008 Wallace Symposium poster session on academic acceleration* (pp. 1–6). Iowa City, IA: The University of Iowa.
- Rogers, K. B. (2010b, July). *Finding and supported twice exceptional learners in the primary grades: What works?* Paper presented at the 11th Asia Pacific Conference on Gifted,

Sydney, Australia.

- Rothermel, P. (2002). *Home-education: Rationales, practices and outcomes* (Doctoral thesis). Retrieved from <u>http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/1005/</u>
- Rowley, J. L. (2012). Professional development needs of teachers to identify and cater for gifted students. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 21(2), 75–80. doi:http://www.aaegt.net.au/?page_id=736
- Rumberger, R. W., & Rotermund, S. (2012). The Relationship Between Engagement and High School Dropout. In S. L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie. (Eds.). *Handbook of research on student engagement* (pp. 491–514). Springer US.
- Saleh, A. A., Ratajeski, M. A., & Bertolet, M. (2014). Grey literature searching for health sciences systematic reviews: A prospective study of time spent and resources utilized. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, 9(3), 28–50. doi:10.18438/B8DW3K
- Schroth, S. T. (2014). Service delivery models. In J. A. Plucker & C. M. Callahan (Eds.), *Critical issues and practices in gifted education: What the research says* (2nd ed., pp. 577–591). Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.
- Scott, M. (2017, July). Delivering on the promise of potential. Paper presented at the 22nd biennial world conference of the World Council for the Education of Gifted and Talented Children, Sydney, Australia.

Select Committee on Home Schooling. Legislative Council of the New South Wales Parliament (2014). *Home schooling in NSW*. Sydney, NSW. Retrieved from <u>www.parliament.nsw.</u> <u>gov.au/committees/DBAssets/InquiryReport/ReportAcrobat/5656/141203%20Final%20R</u> <u>eport.pdf</u>

Senate Select Committee (2001). *The education of gifted and talented children*. Canberra, Australia: Australian Government Publishing Service. Retrieved from <u>http://pandora.</u> <u>nla.gov.au/pan/25300/200206050000/www.aph.gov.au/senate/committee/EET_CTTE/gif</u> ted/report/contents.htm

- Snyder, K. E., & Linnenbrink-Garcia, L. (2013). A developmental, person-centered approach to exploring multiple motivational pathways in gifted underachievement. *Educational Psychologist*, 48, 209–228. doi:10.1080/00461520.2013.835597
- Spiegler, T. (2010). Parents' motives for home education: The influence of methodological design and social context. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 3(1), 57–70. doi:https://www.iejee.com/index.php/IEJEE/index
- Steenbergen-Hu, S., & Moon, S. M. (2011). The effects of acceleration on high-ability learners: A meta-analysis. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 55, 39–53. doi:10.1177/0016986210383155
- Townend, G., Pendergast, D., & Garvis, S. (2014). Academic self-concept in twiceexceptional students: What the literature tells us. <u>*TalentEd*</u>, 28, 75–89. doi: http://www.talented.org.au/
- Treffinger, D. J., Young, G. C., Selby, E. C., & Shepardson, C. (2002). Assessing creativity: A guide for educators (RM02170). Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut.
- Urban Institute, & Child Trends (2002). National Survey of America's Families (NSAF) (ICPSR04582-v1). Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research. doi:10.3886/ICPSR04582.v1
- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2005). Gifted programs and services: What are the nonnegotiables? *Theory into Practice*, *44*, 90–97. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip4402_3
- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2011). Implementing innovative curriculum and instructional practices in classrooms and schools: Using research-based models of effectiveness. In J. VanTassel-Baska & C. A. Little (Eds.), *Content-based curriculum for high-ability learners* (2nd ed., pp. 437–465). Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.

Vialle, W., & Rogers, K. B. (2009). Educating the gifted learner. Terrigal, NSW: David Barlow.

Wang, C. W., & Neihart, M. (2015). Academic self-concept and academic self-efficacy: Selfbeliefs enable academic achievement of twice-exceptional students. *Roeper Review*, 37(2), 63–73. doi:10.1080/02783193.2015.1008660

Webb, S. (2011). Elective home education in the UK. Trentham, UK: Stoke-on Trent.

- Winstanley, C. (2009). Too cool for school? Children who are gifted and homeschooling. *Theory and Research in Education*, *7*, 347–362. doi:10.1177/1477878509343736
- Wormald, C., Vialle, W., & Rogers, K. (2014). Young and misunderstood in the education system: A case study of giftedness and specific learning disabilities. *Australasian Journal* of Gifted Education, 23(2), 16. doi: 10.1080/02783193.2015.1047547

Appendix

Appendix A

Parents of gifted homeschool families questionnaire

Associate Investigator: Dr Anne McMaugh Co-Investigator: Dr Kerry Hodge Co-Investigator: Amy Thomas

Participant Information and Consent Form

You are invited to participate in a study of parents of gifted or high ability homeschooled children. The purpose of the study is to explore why parents of gifted or high ability homeschooled children choose to homeschool.

This study is being conducted by Amy Thomas to meet the partial requirement of a Master of Research in Education under the supervision of Dr Anne McMaugh (<u>anne.mcmaugh@mq.edu.au</u>), and Dr Kerry Hodge (<u>kerry.hodge@mq.edu.au</u>), Department of Educational Studies, Macquarie University.

If you decide to participate, you will be asked to complete this electronic questionnaire asking about the reasons you chose to homeschool your gifted or high ability child, their learning and support needs and how these needs are met in school or homeschool environments. The questionnaire will take approximately 35 minutes to complete. Alternatively you may wish to participate in this research by telephone and this means supplying your contact details to Amy Thomas (amy.thomas@hdr.mq.edu.au). Your responses on the questionnaire are anonymous. Any name or contact number provided by you will be kept strictly confidential for the purpose of this study only.

Any information or personal details gathered in the course of the study are confidential, except as required by law. No individual will be identified in any publication of the results. Only the named Researchers on this project will have access to the data. A summary of the results of the data will be made available to the community groups who helped distribute the questionnaire. Participation in this study is entirely voluntary; you are not obliged to participate, and if you decide to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time without having to give a reason and without consequence.

The ethical aspects of this study have been approved by the Macquarie University Human Research Ethics Committee. If you have any complaints or reservations about any ethical aspect of your participation in this research, you may contact the Committee through the Director, Research Ethics & Integrity (telephone (02) 9850 7854; email ethics@mq.edu.au). Any complaint you make will be treated in confidence and investigated, and you will be informed of the outcome.

If you experienced any negative emotions or thoughts associated with any adverse memories while filling out this questionnaire please visit<u>https://www.beyondblue.org.au/</u> or contact beyondblue on 1300 22 46 36.

To show appreciation for your time and efforts in completing this questionnaire, you may choose to enter the draw for the chance to win one of two \$50 Coles/Myer gift card. More details will follow at the end of the survey.

By clicking **'next'** you are consenting to participation in this research project. You may withdraw from participation in the research at any time without consequence.

[NEXT]

Q1 Are you the person primarily responsible for homeschooling one or more children who you consider gifted?

○ Yes	
\bigcirc No, I share responsibility with my partner	
\bigcirc No, my partner homeschools the children	
\bigcirc No, another family member homeschools the children	
O Other	
Q2 What is your gender?	
○ Female	
O Male	
O Other	
Q3 How old are you?	

Q4 What race or ethnicity do you identify with?
Australian
Chinese
English
Indian
Italian
Other
Prefer not to say
Q5 What is the main language spoken at home?
O Arabic
○ Cantonese
○ English
○ Greek
○ Italian
O Mandarin
Other

O Prefer not to say

Q6 Are there any other languages spoken at home?

Q7 What is the highest level of education you have completed?	
• Year 9 or below	
• Year 10	
• Year 11	
• Year 12	
O Post school certificate or diploma	
O Undergraduate degree	
O Post graduate or above	
O Other	
O Prefer not to say	
Q8 What is or was your occupation prior to homeschooling?	
Occupation	
O Prefer not to say	
Q9 Do you have a partner who lives with you?	
Q9 Do you have a partner who lives with you?	
○ Yes	
○ Yes	

Q10 What state or territory do you reside in?
O Australian Capital Territory
O New South Wales
O Northern Territory
O Queensland
O South Australia
○ Tasmania
○ Victoria
O Western Australia
○ I do not live in Australia
Q11 What is your postcode?

Please complete the following questions, for <u>your most recently</u> homeschooled child who is gifted or who has high ability.

Q12 How old is your child?

Q13 What is your child's gender?
○ Male
○ Female
Other
Q14 What race or ethnicity do you identify for your child?
Chinese
English
Indian
Italian
Other
Prefer not to say
Q15 Is your child currently being homeschooled?
○ Yes
○ No
Q16 Is your child homeschooled part time or full time?
O Part time
○ Full Time

Q17 How many years has your child been homeschooled (Between First Year of Sour 12)?
Q18 Do you see homeschooling as a temporary or permanent choice for this child?
Temporary
Permanent
Undecided
Q19 How do you know your child is gifted? (click all that apply)
Cognitive assessment
Reading or mathematics test showing very advanced for age
Teacher nomination
My own observation
I don't believe in labeling children, but my child has high abilities
\bigotimes^2 My child isn't gifted or high ability, but I believe all children are gifted

Q20 Please briefly describe the areas in which your child's ability or achievement levels are in the gifted range.

² Participant exit from survey

	Q21 Do you believe your child also has a learning challenge or disability?	
\bigcirc	Yes	
\bigcirc	No	
o To:	Q23 If Do you believe your child also has a learning challenge or disability? = No	
	Q22 What learning challenge(s)/disabilities do you identify for your child?	
	ADHD	
	Learning disability (e.g. dyslexia)	
	Autism Spectrum	
In v	Anxiety that interferes with daily activities. which settings is anxiety most elevated?	
	Other (Please describe)	
	Prefer not to say	
	Q23 How would you describe your child's learning needs?	

Q24 What factors contributed to your decision to homeschool?

Q25 Thinking back to the learning needs you identified for your child, how are these needs being met through homeschooling?

Page —

Break

In my child's current homeschool environment, I believe:

Q26 My child feels happy being homeschooled.

🔾 1. Never

- 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

 $X \rightarrow 3$

Q27 My child feels bored being homeschooled.

O 1. Never

○ 2. On Occasion

- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q28 My child likes being homeschooled.

O 1. Never

- O 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q29 My child follows the rules while homeschooling.

○ 1. Never

- O 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q30 My child's homeschool 'classroom' is a fun place to be.

0 1. Never

- 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q31 My child gets into trouble while homeschooling. 0 1. Never ○ 2. On Occasion \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time \bigcirc 5. All of the Time In my child's current homeschool environment, I believe: Q32 My child is interested in the work we do while homeschooling. O 1. Never O 2. On Occasion \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time • 4. Most of the Time \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q33 When my child is completing work, they just act as if they are working.

○ 1. Never

- 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q34 My child is excited by their work while being homeschooled.

0 1. Never

- On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time

\bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q35 My child checks their work for mistakes.

○ 1. Never

- O 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q36 When reading a book, my child asks him/herself questions to be sure of

understanding what it is about.

1. Never
2. On Occasion
3. Some of the Time
4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q37 My child completes their homework on time.

○ 1. Never

- 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

In my child's current homeschool environment, I believe:

Q38 If my child doesn't know what a word means while reading, they do something to figure it out, like look it up in the dictionary or ask someone.

○ 1. Never

- O 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

 $Q39\ \mbox{If}\ my\ \mbox{child}\ \mbox{doesn't}\ \mbox{understand}\ \mbox{what}\ \mbox{they}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{tous}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{it}\ \mbox{over}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{it}\ \mbox{over}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{it}\ \mbox{over}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{it}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{read}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{mod}\ \mbox{and}\ \mbox{and$

○ 1. Never
O 2. On Occasion
\bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
○ 4. Most of the Time
\bigcirc 5. All of the Time
Q40 My child pays attention during learning activities.
O 1. Never
O 2. On Occasion
\bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
○ 4. Most of the Time
○ 5. All of the Time

Q41 My child talks with people outside of home about what they are learning at homeschool.

O 1. Never

 \bigcirc 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

 \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

98

Q42 My child studies at home even when they don't have a test.

0 1. Never

🔘 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

 \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q43 My child reads extra books to learn more about things they learn in homeschool.

○ 1. Never

○ 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

○ 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q44 My child will try to watch TV shows about things they were doing during homeschooling.

○ 1. Never

○ 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

 \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q45

How often do you believe the following occurs in your homeschooling environment?

	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Some of the Time (3)	Most of the Time (4)	All the Time (5)
My child is challenged in their specific area of talent.	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
My child is given opportunities to work independently in their areas of passion or talent.	0	0 0		\bigcirc	\bigcirc
My child is allowed to work at a higher grade level as needed.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
My child has opportunities to learn and socialise with children of a similar ability.	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
I adjust the pace of learning and reduce the amount of practice and review for my child.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

In my child's current *homeschool environment*, I believe:

Break

Q46	Has your child ever attended a school?	
O Yes		
O No		
Skip To: Q78 Ij	f Has your child ever attended a school? = No	
Q47 your child?	Before your child started school, had you considered homeschool	ing as an option for
\bigcirc Yes		
○ No		
Q48	Under what circumstances would you consider returning your chi	ld to a school?
Q49	What type of school did your child attend?	
O Public	c	
○ Indep	endent	
O Steine	er	
O Mont	essori	
○ Relig	ious	
O Other		

Q50 Was your child whole-grade accelerated at any point by the school?

 \bigcirc No

O Accelerated by 1 year

O Accelerated by 2 years

O Accelerated by 3 years

 \bigcirc Accelerated by more than 3 years

Q51 If your child was to return to school today, what year level do you think they should go into?

• First year of school (FYOS) $\bigcirc 1$ $\bigcirc 2$ 03 $\bigcirc 4$ $\bigcirc 5$ 06 \bigcirc 7 08 09 0 10 \bigcirc 11 0 12

Q52 Did your child's most recent teacher accommodate your child's needs?
○ Yes
○ No
O Partly
Q53 Please comment.
Q54 Was school a good fit for your child?
○ Yes
○ No
○ Unsure
Skip To: Q57 If Was school a good fit for your child? = Yes

Q55 How long did you work with the school to create a good fit for your child at school before deciding to homeschool?

O Less than 1 year

O About 2 years

O About 3 years

 \bigcirc More than 3 years

Q56 Please comment.	
In the last year that my child <u>attended school</u> , I believe:	
Q57 My child felt happy in school.	
1. Never	
O 2. On Occasion	
\bigcirc 3. Some of the Time	
• 4. Most of the Time	
\bigcirc 5. All of the Time	
X→	
Q58 My child felt bored in school.	
1. Never	

- O 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q59 My child liked being at school.

O 1. Never

○ 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

 \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q60 My child followed the rules at school.

O 1. Never

- \bigcirc 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q61 My child's classroom was a fun place to be.

0 1. Never

- O 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q62 My child got in trouble at school.

O 1. Never

x→

- 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

In the last year that my child <u>attended school</u>, I believe:

Q63 My child was interested in the work at school.

- O 1. Never
- 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q64 When my child was in class, they just acted as if they were working. 0 1. Never ○ 2. On Occasion ○ 3. Some of the Time • 4. Most of the Time \bigcirc 5. All of the Time Q65 My child felt excited by the work in school. 0 1. Never O 2. On Occasion \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time • 4. Most of the Time \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q66 My child checked their schoolwork for mistakes.

O 1. Never

O 2. On Occasion

- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q67 When reading a book, my child asked him/herself questions to be sure of understanding what it is about.

O 1. Never			
O 2. On Occasion			
\bigcirc 3. Some of the Tir	ne		
\bigcirc 4. Most of the Tim	ne		
\bigcirc 5. All of the Time			
Q68 My child co	ompleted their homework	c on time.	
O 1. Never			
O 2. On Occasion			
\bigcirc 3. Some of the Tir	ne		
\bigcirc 4. Most of the Tim	ne		
\bigcirc 5. All of the Time			
Page ————Break			

In the last year that my child *attended school*, I believe:

Q69 If my child didn't know what a word means while reading, they would do something to figure it out, like look it up in the dictionary or ask someone.

1. Never
2. On Occasion
3. Some of the Time
4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q70 If my child didn't understand what they read, they would go back and read it over again.

O 1. Never

🔘 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

○ 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q71 My child paid attention during class.

O 1. Never

○ 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

○ 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q72 My child would talk with people outside of school about what they were learning in class.

0 1. Never

On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

 \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q73 My child studied at home even when they didn't have a test.

○ 1. Never

- 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q74 My child read extra books to learn more about things they did in school.

O 1. Never

○ 2. On Occasion

 \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time

 \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time

 \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q75 My child tried to watch TV shows about things they were doing in school.

- O 1. Never
- \bigcirc 2. On Occasion
- \bigcirc 3. Some of the Time
- \bigcirc 4. Most of the Time
- \bigcirc 5. All of the Time

Q76 Thinking back to your child's last year in school, how often do you believe the

following occurred?

0	0
\bigcirc	\bigcirc
\bigcirc	\bigcirc
\bigcirc	\bigcirc
\bigcirc	\bigcirc
	0

Page -

Break

Q77	Is there	anything	else you	would	like	us to	know	about	your	gifted	child i	n scl	hool
education?													

Q78 Do y	ou currently have a rela	tionship with the school	l system?	
Yes				
No				
Some rela	onship			
Q79 Plea	e comment.			

X→

Q80 How would you describe your n	elationship with yo	our state or terr	itory's regulatory
body for homeschooling?			

○ 1. Very good
O 2. Good
O 3. Acceptable
O 4. Poor
○ 5. Very poor
O Not applicable, I don't interact with any regulatory bodies
Q81 Please describe any relevant examples of this relationship here:

Q82 Is there anything else you would like us to know about homeschooling your gifted child?

Q83 Where did you find this questionnaire?
• A friend sent it to me
O Gifted Facebook group
O Home Education Australia
O Homeschool Facebook group
O State/Territory home education association
O State/Territory gifted association
Other

This is the end of the survey. Thank you for your time in completing this survey.

If you have experienced any negative emotions while filling in this survey and feel you need support or advice about any issues raised by this survey please visit www.beyondblue.org.au or contact beyond blue on 1300 22 46 36. Alternatively, you may visit www.lifeline.org.au or contact Dr Anne McMaugh (anne.mcmaugh@mq.edu.au) or Dr Kerry Hodge (kerry.hodge@mq.edu.au).

After clicking next (>>), you will be re-directed for your chance to enter the draw to win one of two \$50 Coles/Myer gift card. Please leave this form blank if you do not wish to participate and click next (>>) to submit your responses.

Appendix B

Child Access to Gifted Education Practices in School and Home Education.

How often do you believe the following occurs in your *homeschooling environment?* (Never/ Rarely/Some of the time/Most of the time/All the time)

My child is challenged in their specific area of talent.

My child is given opportunities to work independently in their areas of passion or talent.

My child is allowed to work at a higher grade level as needed.

My child has opportunities to learn and socialise with children of a similar ability.

I adjust the pace of learning and reduced the amount of practice and review for my child.

Thinking back to *your child's last year in school*, how often do you believe the following occurred? (Never/ Rarely/Sometimes/Most of the time/All the time)

My child was challenged in their specific area of talent.

My child was given opportunities to work independently in their areas of passion or talent.

My child was allowed to work at a higher grade level as needed.

My child had opportunities to learn and socialise with children of a similar ability.

My child's teacher adjusted the pace of learning and reduced the amount of practice and review for my child.

Appendix C

Parent perceptions of child engagement in school.

How much do you agree or disagree with the following statements?

(Strongly disagree/Disagree/Neither agree nor disagree/Agree/Strongly agree)

In the last year that my child *attended school*, I believe:

Measures of emotional engagement.

My child liked being at school.

My child was excited by their work at school.

My child's classroom was a fun place to be.

My child was interested in the work at school.

My child was happy in school.

My child felt bored in school (reversed).

Measures of behavioural engagement.

My child followed the rules.

My child complained about the work they had to do in class.

My child paid attention in class.

My child got into trouble at school (reversed).

My child completed their work on time.

Measures of cognitive engagement.

When reading a book, my child would ask him/herself questions to be sure of understanding what it is about.

My child studied at home even when they didn't have a test.

My child would try to watch TV shows about things they were doing in school.

My child talked with people outside of school about what they were learning in class.

My child checked their schoolwork for mistakes.

If my child didn't know what a word meant when reading, they would do something to figure it

out, like look it up in the dictionary or ask someone.

My child read extra books to learn more about things they did in school.

If my child didn't understand what they read, they would go back and read it over again.

Appendix D

Parent perceptions of child engagement in home education.

How much do you agree or disagree with the following statements?

(Strongly disagree/Disagree/Neither agree nor disagree/Agree/Strongly agree)

In my child's current *homeschool environment*, I believe:

Measures of emotional engagement.

My child likes being homeschooled.

My child is excited by their work.

My child's 'classroom' is a fun place to be.

My child is interested in the work we do.

My child is happy being homeschooled.

My child feels bored being homeschool (reversed).

Measures of behavioural engagement.

My child follows the rules.

My child complains about the work they do.

My child pays attention during learning activities.

My child gets into trouble while homeschooling (reversed).

My child completes their work on time.

Measures of cognitive engagement.

When reading a book, my child asks him/herself questions to be sure of understanding what it is about.

My child studies at home even when they don't have a test.

My child will try to watch TV shows about things they were doing in their learning.

My child talks with people outside of homeschool about what they were learning.

My child checks their work for mistakes.

If my child doesn't know what a word means when reading, they will do something to figure it out, like look it up in the dictionary or ask someone.

My child reads extra books to learn more about things they learn in homeschool.

If my child doesn't understand what they read, they will go back and read it over again.

Appendix E

Ethics approval letter.

Office of the Deputy Vice(Research)

-Chancellor

Research Office Research Hub, Building C5C East

Macquarie UniversityNSW 2109 Australia

T: +61 (2) 9850 4459 <u>http://www.researc</u>ABN 90 952 801 237<u>h.m</u> <u>q.edu.au/</u>



Dear Dr McMaugh

Reference No: 5201700385

Title: Parents of homeschooled gifted children and their choice to homeschool in New

South Wales and the Australian Capital Territory.

Thank you for submitting the above application for ethical and scientific review. Your application was considered by the Macquarie University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC (Human Sciences & Humanities)).

I am pleased to advise that <u>ethical and scientific approval</u> has been granted for this project to be conducted by:

• Macquarie University

This research meets the requirements set out in the *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research* (2007 – Updated May 2015) (the *National Statement*).

Standard Conditions of Approval:

1. Continuing compliance with the requirements of the *National Statement*, which is available at the following website:

http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/book/national-statement-ethical-conduct-human-research

2. This approval is valid for five (5) years, subject to the submission of annual reports. Please submit your reports on the anniversary of the approval for this protocol.



3. All adverse events, including events which might affect the continued ethical and scientific acceptability of the project, must be reported to the HREC within 72 hours.

4. Proposed changes to the protocol and associated documents must be submitted to the Committee for approval before implementation.

It is the responsibility of the Chief investigator to retain a copy of all documentation related to this project and to forward a copy of this approval letter to all personnel listed on the project.

Should you have any queries regarding your project, please contact the Ethics Secretariat on 9850 4194 or by email <u>ethics.secretariat@mq.edu.au</u>

The HREC (Human Sciences and Humanities) Terms of Reference and Standard Operating Procedures are available from the Research Office website at:

http://www.research.mq.edu.au/for/researchers/how to obtain ethics approval/hum an research ethics

The HREC (Human Sciences and Humanities) wishes you every success in your research.

Yours sincerely

UnSute

Dr Karolyn White Director, Research Ethics & Integrity, Chair, Human Research Ethics Committee (Human Sciences and Humanities)

This HREC is constituted and operates in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council's (NHMRC) *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research* (2007) and the *CPMP/ICH Note for Guidance on Good Clinical Practice*.

Details of this approval are as follows:

Approval Date: 26 May 2017

The following documentation has been reviewed and approved by the HREC (Human Sciences & Humanities):

Documents reviewed	Version no.	Date
Macquarie University Ethics Application Form		Revised application received 08/05/2017
Response addressing the issues raised by the HREC		Received 08/05/2017
Participant recruitment letter and advertisement	1	08/05/2017
Project Advertisement:	1	08/05/2017
Parent Information and Consent Form	1	08/05/2017
Questionnaire	1	08/05/2017

*If the document has no version date listed one will be created for you. Please ensure the footer of these documents are updated to include this version date to ensure ongoing version control.